# Chemodiversity between selected Cardueae and Anthriscus plant species: a phytochemical study of their intact tissues and *in vitro* cultures

Ph.D. Dissertation

# Rita Könye

Semmelweis University Doctoral School of Pharmaceutical Sciences



Supervisors: Szabolcs Béni, Ph.D. Imre Boldizsár, Ph.D.

Reviewers: Ágnes Farkas, Ph.D. Petra Dunkel, Ph.D.

Chair of final examination committee: Members of final examination committee:

Imre Klebovich D.Sc. Zsuzsanna Hajdú Ph.D. Júlia Halász Ph.D. Éva Lemberkovics Ph.D.

Budapest 2020

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Li	List of abbreviations						
1	Introduction						
	1.1	Nomenclature and structural features of lignans	9				
	1.2	Biosynthetic pathways of lignans1	2				
	1.3	Distribution of lignans in the plant kingdom1	4				
	1.4	Lignans in plants 1	5				
	1.5	Therapeutic significance of lignans1	6				
	1.6	Description of plant groups involved in our study1	9				
	1.6.1	Cardueae tribe1	9				
	1.6.2	Anthriscus genus2	23				
	1.7	Plant biotechnology: a key tool of secondary metabolite production	28				
	1.7.1	Callus cultures2	28				
	1.7.2	Cell suspension cultures2	29				
	1.7.3	Elicitation and precursor feeding for lignan production2	29				
2	Objecti	ves	31				
3	Materia	lls and methods	\$2				
	3.1	Plant material	\$2				
	3.2	Extraction and sample preparation	32				
	3.2.1	Fruit wall and ebryo separation from the fruit	32				
	3.2.2	Preparation of enzyme-hydrolyzed fruit samples	32				
	3.2.3	Extraction procedure	33				
	3.2.4	Performing acid treatment	33				
	3.2.5	Preparation of high-purity arctigenin extracts (HPAEs) from J. mollis fruits3	33				
	3.2.6	Isolation of pure arctigenin from <i>J. mollis</i>	34				
	3.2.7	Analytical HPLC hyphenated with UV and time of flight mass spectrometry	ic				
	(TOF-MS) detections						

	3.2.8	Analytical HPLC hyphenated with UV and high-resolution Orbitrap mass	
spectrometric detections of Carduus nutans fruit, Cirsium boujartii callus cult			
	Anthri	scus samples	
	3.2.9	Preparative HPLC	
	3.2.10	Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy35	
	3.2.11	Circular dichroism (CD) spectroscopy	
	3.2.12	Compound quantification	
	3.3	Principal component analysis (PCA)	
	3.4	Antiproliferation studies	
	3.5	Cell- and tissue cultures	
	3.5.1	Establishing <i>in vitro</i> callus cultures	
	3.5.2	Cell suspension cultures	
	3.5.3	Experiments on elicitation	
4	Results		
	4.1	Phytochemical characterisation of the Cardueae fruits	
	4.1.1	Anylsis of Jurinea mollis fruit40	
	4.1.2	Analysis of <i>Carduus nutans</i> fruit43	
	4.1.3	Phytochemical characterisation of Cirsium boujartii fruit44	
	4.1.4	Cirsium rivulare fruit composition45	
	4.1.5	Chemodiversity of of <i>Cirsium</i> fruits47	
	4.2	Antiproliferative activity of the isolated neolignans and sesquineolignans	
	against	SW480 adenocarcinoma cell line	
	4.3	In vitro cultures of the Cirsium boujartii	
	4.4	Phytochemical characterisation of Anthriscus species	
	4.5	In vitro cultures of Anthriscus cerefolium	
5	Discuss	ion55	
	5.1	Phytochemical characterisation of the Cardueae fruits	
	5.1.1	Jurinea mollis fruit: the novel source of arctigenin	
	5.1.2	Carduus nutans fruit: the new source of pinoresinol	

# DOI:10.14753/SE.2021.2492

	5.1.3 <i>Cirsium boujartii</i> fruit as the abundant source of rarely occurring neolignans and					
	sesqui	neolignans				
	5.1.4	New lignans in the fruit of <i>Cirsium rivulare</i>				
	5.1.5	Chemodiversity of <i>Cirsium</i> fruits				
	5.2	Antiproliferative activity of the isolated lignan-type metabolites against				
	SW480	adenocarcinoma cell line				
	5.3	In vitro cultures of the Cirsium boujartii: the source of a caffeic acid				
	derivati	ve				
	5.4	Phytochemical characterisation of Anthriscus species				
	5.5	Phytochemical study on <i>in vitro</i> cultures of Anthriscus species				
	5.5.1	Compounds in the callus cultures				
	5.5.2	Phytochemical composition of cell suspension culture: an elicitation study64				
6	Conclus	sions				
7	Summa	ry68				
8	Összefoglalás					
9	Bibliog	raphy70				
10	)Bibliog	raphy of the candidate's publications95				
	10.1	Publications related to the thesis				
11	11 Acknowledgements					

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

3D	three-dimensional
A549	Human lung cancer cell line
ABTS	2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid
AGS	Human gastric cancer cell line
Akt-1	serine-threonine protein kinase
approx.	approximately
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
B16 melanoma 4A5	Mouse melanoma cell line
ca.	circa
CD	circular dichroism
Cdc2	cell division control protein
Cdc25C	Human cell division cycle 25C
CEM/ADR5000	Human leukemia cell line
COSY	Correlation Spectroscopy
COX	cyclooxygenase
CTR	control
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DOP6H	deoxy-podophyllotoxin 6-hydroxylase
DPPH	2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl
DW	distilled water
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ESI	electrospray ionisation
EtOH	ethanol
FBS	fetal bovine serum
GL331	an epipodophyllotoxin analogue
HCT116	Human colorectal carcinoma cell line
HeLa	Human cervical cancer cell line
HepG2	Human liver cancer cell line
HIV1	Human immunodeficiency virus 1
HL-60	Human leukemia cell line

HMBC	Heteronuclear Multiple Bond Correlation				
HPAE	high-purity arctigenin extract				
HPLC	high-performance liquid chromatography				
HPLC-MS	high- performance liquid chromatography coupled with mass				
	spectrometry				
HSQC	Heteronuclear single quantum coherence				
IC50	half maximal inhibitory concentration				
IDPFG	inverse detection gradient				
IEFPCM	integral equation formalism				
iNOS	inducible nitric oxide synthase				
ITS	Internal transcribed spacer				
IUPAC	International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry				
JA	jasmonic acid				
LC-MS	liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry				
LOD	limit of detection				
LOQ	limit of quantification				
LPS	lipopolysaccharide				
m/z	mass-to-charge-ratio				
MCF-7	Michigan Cancer Foundation-7 derived from Human breast				
	cancer cell line				
MeJA	methyl jasmonate				
MeOH	methanol				
MRC-5	Medical Research Council cell strain 5 derived from the lung				
	tissue of an aborted fetus				
MS	Murashige and Skoog medium				
NCI-H460	Human lung cancer cell line				
NF- κB	nuclear factor- $\kappa B$				
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance				
NO	nitric oxide				
ORAC	oxygen radical absorbance capacity				
p53	tumor protein p53				
PCA	principal component analysis				

PGD2	prostaglandin D2
PT	podophyllotoxin
RAW 264.7	Murin macrophage cell line
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SA	salicylic acid
sect.	section
SGC-7901	Human gastric cancer cell line
SNU-1	Human gastric carcinoma cell line
sp.	species
SRB	sulforhodamine B
SW480	Human adenocarcinoma cell line
syn.	synonym
TFA	trifluoroacetic acid
TOCSY	Total Correlation Spectroscopy
TOF	time-of-flight mass analyser
UV	ultra violet
WHO	World Health Organisation
Wnt/β	Wnt/β-Catenin signalling pathway
YE	yeast extract
β-peltatin 6OMT	$\beta$ -peltatin 6- <i>O</i> -methyltransferase

# **1** INTRODUCTION

Nowadays, cancer is globally the second leading disease causing death. Worldwide, one in six deaths occur due to cancer, according to the WHO data (World Health Organisation, 2018), therefore seeking an efficient treatment of cancer is a particularly pressing issue.

In the developed countries an increasing tendency of popularity of phytomedicine and the plant-based therapies can be observed in the last decades, therefore this area is one of the main focus of today's research. Moreover, a broad spectrum of plant-derived secondary metabolites occur in the nature that are used for centuries for human health and a tremendous number of molecules are not discovered yet, which might have a positive effect in cancer treatment, such as the semisynthetic etoposide and teniposide, derived from the lignan podophyllotoxin.

Lignans are one of the most potential groups of natural compounds which can play a relevant role in cancer theraphy. They represent a unique group of plant phenolics originating from the phenylpropanoid pathway. Although, their skeleton is formed by coupling of phenylpropane moieties, this group shows high structural diversity due to the presence of aromatic rings, chirality centers and hydroxylations. In addition to their significance in cancer therapy, numerous studies confirm their anti-inflammatory, phytoestrogene, antiviral and several other beneficial effects that are widely researched.

Lignans are commonly distributed in the group of seed plants, over a few hundreds of species accumulates different type of lignans in almost each part of the plant. Although, lignans are ubiquitous in plants, but in general do not provide commercially useful quantities and the cultivation of the most important species are not solved yet.

Cell- and tissue culture technique advances have further expanded the repertoire costeffective fast production and scale-up of molecules with potential therapeutic importance.

Previously, at my research Institutes, several genera in the Asteraceae family were investigated and high amount of dibenzylbutyrolactone and furofuran-type lignans have been found in the seeds of these species. Continuing this research, we analysed fruits of species from *Cirsium* genus – such as *Cirsium rivulare*, *C. canum*, *C. oleraceum*, *C. brachycephalum*, *C. palustre*, *C. arvense*, *C. vulgare*, *C. eriophorum* and *C. boujartii* –,

and two further other species from this family, namely *Jurinea mollis* as well as *Carduus nutans* endemic in Hungary. Moreover, aryltetralin-type lignan, podophyllotoxin-derivatives containing genus *Anthriscus*, representing three species (*A. cerefolium, A. sylvestris, and A. caucalis*) belonging to Apiaceae family was investigated. In addition to the phytochemical study of intact plant organs, we also aimed establishing their *in vitro* cultures and producing the valuable secondary metabolites in *in vitro* cultures.

Taking into consideration that the structure of produced secondary metabolites is often restricted to taxonomically related groups, chemical taxonomy or chemotaxonomy can be a tool in our hand to find better sources of aimed metabolites in a taxonomically related plants.

As a literature overview, the following chapters (1.1 - 1.7) summarizes the most important knowledge about the plant-derived lignans as well as the studied plant species in the focus on our recent study. These sections are based on the biosynthesis of lignans, their availability in the plant kingdom, their biological activity and the opportunity of their production in *in vitro* plant cell and tissue cultures.

#### **1.1** Nomenclature and structural features of lignans

An abundant class of plant-derived phenylpropanoids are the lignans (Umezawa 2003). They are biogenetically related to the phenylalanine metabolism (Moss 2000). The characteristic structural unit of lignans is a phenylpropanoid dimer, linked by the C8 carbons of the side chains of two phenylpropanes (Figure 1) (Umezawa 2003). Their name was introduced by Haworth in 1936. The term of lignans was proposed to extend to those natural compounds with low molecular weight that originate from the oxidative coupling of *p*-hydrxyphenylpropene units (McCredie et al. 1969). Among lignans, compounds with additional rings was named as cyclolignans and discussed in more detail by Weinges et al. in 1978 (Moss 2000). Subsequently, Gottlieb (1972) supplemented the nomenclature with compounds linked in a manner other than C8-C8' and denominated as neolignans. However further recommendations were made in the classification, the nomenclature mentioned above are widely used and accepted by IUPAC in 2000. Moreover, the higher analogues – composed by three or more units – have analog terminology to terpenes: e.g., sesquineolignans and dineolignans (Moss 2000).



Figure 1. (A) Structures of lignan precursors: p-coumaryl alcohol ( $R_1$ =H,  $R_2$ =H), coniferyl alcohol ( $R_1$ =H,  $R_2$ =OCH<sub>3</sub>) and sinapyl alcohol ( $R_1$ =OCH<sub>3</sub>,  $R_2$ = OCH<sub>3</sub>); (B) Phenylpropane unit; (C) Basic structure of lignans linked between the phenylpropanoid units at the C8-C8'.

Based on the carbon skeleton of lignans they are classified into subgroups, namely furofuran, furan, dibenzylbutane, dibenzylbutyrolactone, aryltetralin, arylnaphthalene, dibenzocyclooctadiene (Figure 2) (Ghisalberti 1997, Chang et al. 2005, Suzuki and Umezawa 2007, Satake et al. 2015). The oxidation levels of both the propil chain and the aromatic ring of each subgroups can vary in a significant level, thus they can be classified further (Suzuki and Umezawa 2007). The basic skeleton of lignans is often containing several side groups, i.e. methylenedioxy, methoxy groups or even different type of sugar moieties. The lignan-glycosides can be either monoglycosides (containing rhamnose, apiose or glucose) (Abe and Yamauchi 1989, Ito et al. 1994) or diglycosides (Ghisalberti 1997).

#### DOI:10.14753/SE.2021.2492



Figure 2. Variation of the lignan skeleton (bold) with example sturctures (red italic).

The optical rotation, enantiomer compositions and also the percentage values of enantiomers of the naturally occurring lignans are also varying substantially with plant species (Umezawa et al. 1997) or even within organs of the same species (Suzuki et al. 2002a).

#### **1.2** Biosynthetic pathways of lignans

The biosynthesis of several lignans has already been well established, but many other biosynthetic pathways still remains unknown (Umezawa 2003). Among the subgroups, biosynthesis of lignans with 9(9')-oxygen is the most well-known example (Chuna et al. 2012, Suzuki and Umezawa 2007).

The skeleton of lignans originate from C6-C3 units that are derived from aromatic amino acids: *L*-phenylalanine and *L*-tyrosine derived from shikimic acid pathway. These amino acids are converted into cinnamic acid derivatives, thereafter, due to reduction *via* coenzyme A, are formed three alkohols, namely *p*-coumaryl alcohol, coniferyl alcohol and sinapyl alcohol (Figure 1). These alcohols are the main precursors of the lignans (Chuna et al. 2012). The biosynthesis of these precursors – are also called monolignols (Davin and Lewis 2000, Sólyomváry et al. 2017a) – are fully established (Lewis et al. 1999).

For the C8-C8' linked lignans, the biosynthetic patway have been already defined at the metabolic, enzymatic and also molecular levels (Chu et al. 1993, Dinkova-Kostova et al. 1996, Kasahara et al. 2006). Their biosynthesis starts from the radical-radical coupling of two of E-coniferyl alcohol yielding (+)-pinoresinol. During the coupling of the two coniferyl alcohol, oxidases (laccase or peroxidase) generate free-radical intermediates, which are presumed to be captured by the so called diringent protein. Although this protein is responsible for the essential stereoselective coupling in the initial steps (Davin and Lewis 2000, Kasahara et al. 2006, Ono et al. 2006), in further metabolic steps the optical rotating isomers can occur in several plant species, or even within on species in different organs (Sólyomváry et al. 2017a). Pinoresinol was proved as a precursor of both secoisolariciresinol and matairesinol. Pinoresinol undergoes sequential reduction by pinoresinol/lariciresinol reductases to generate lariciresinol and secoisolariciresinol (Chu et al. 1993, Katayama et al. 1993, Dinkova-Kostova et al. 1996, Calvo-Flores et al. 2015, Sólyomváry et al. 2017a). These four lignans – pinoresinol, lariciresinol, secoisolariciresinol and matairesinol - were identified as the precursors of the biosynthesis of many other lignans. Further metabolic changes, structural variations are reached from different biosynthetic pathways (Suzuki and Umezawa 2007, Kim et al. 2009, Chuna et al. 2012, Calvo-Flores et al. 2015).



Furofuran lignans – such as sesamin, the main lignan in sesame seeds – was demonstrated to synthetize from pinoresinol (Ono et al. 2006).

Figure 3. Biosynthetic pathway for yatein via thujaplicatin in Anthriscus sylvestris (Umezawa 2003).

A dibenzylbutirolactone lignan vatein was proved to transform from matairesinol via thujaplicatin as shown on Figure 3 (Sakakibara et al. 2003). Although the conversion of vatein into podophyllotoxin (PT) via deoxy-PT was proposed by Dewick (1989), the enzyme involved the transformation of vatein into deoxy-PT is still unknown. In contrast with the late steps of the biosynthesis of PT, enzymatic data on the earlier steps of its synthesis are not completely understood. Different pathways were proposed in the last decades (Calvo-Flores et al. 2015). Matairesinol was presumed to form yatein in four steps, which implies yatein as an intermedier toward PT and 6-methoxy-PT. Although, these intermediers are detected in plants, the catalysing enzymes are still unidentified (Sakakibara et al. 2003, Broomhead et al. 1991). Deoxy-PT 6-hydroxylase - a P450 dependent monooxygenase - was determined in the first time among the late step enzymes of the biosynthesis of PT and its derivatives. According to theses studies, the structure of 6-methoxy-PT does not proceed via PT (Molog et al. 2001, Seidel et al. 2002), but  $\beta$ -peltatin 6-O-methyltransferase (Kranz and Petersen 2003) Figure 4. Similar problems with the identification of the actual enzymes involved in the biosynthesis also happen with other alternative pathways (Calvo-Flores et al 2015).



Figure 4. Biosynthesis of podophyllotoxin and 6-methoxypodophyllotoxin, involved the identified enzymes: deoxy-podophyllotoxin 6-hydroxylase (DOP6H) catalyses the deoxy-PT to form  $\beta$ -peltatin, while the transformation of  $\beta$ -peltatin into  $\beta$ -peltatin A methyl ether occurs by  $\beta$ -peltatin 6-O-methyltransferase ( $\beta$ -peltatin 6OMT) (Suzuki et al. 2002b)

Umezawa (2003) suggested the arylnapthalene lignans are formed from aryltetralin lignans by dehydrogenation or by hydroxylation due to the structural similarity.

Metabolic steps, enzymes and genes involved in biosynthetic pathway of the structurally more diverse C8-C5' neolignans, are only involved in research in the last decade. In case of neolignans, the initial coupling step resulted dehydrodiconiferyl alcohol, which can be either racemic or optically active, depending upon the plant species (Kasahara et al. 2006). Diringent proteins also participate in the initial coupling, thus they support the chirality of the majority of neolignans.

# **1.3** Distribution of lignans in the plant kingdom

Lignans are widely distributed in the plant kingdom. A comprehensive study on the distribution of lignans proved the presence of these molecules in 108 families within the Magnoliophyta division, 8 within Gymnospermophyta and 2 within Pteridophyta already in 1990. Since then, in the division of Bryophyta, only p-hydroxycinnamate

dimers have been isolated (Umezawa 2003). According to Gordaliza et al. (2004), lignans can be found also in a large number of plant families belonging to the vascular plants. These molecules have been isolated from different plant parts, including roots, rhizomes, woody parts, stems, leaves, fruits and seeds as well as in exudates and resins (Gordaliza et al. 2004, Saleem et al. 2005). Lignans are also common in food plants. Namely, secoisolariciresinol (Ward 2003), matairesinol (Ward 1997), lariciresinol (Ward 1995), medioresinol (Suzuki and Umezawa 2007), pinoresinol (Saleem et al. 2005), syringaresinol (Macías et al. 2004), sesamin (Moon et al. 2008) and sesamolin (Yun et al. 2011) have been published to be present in various food plants. Compared with the total family number of subclasses, there are some of them, i.e. Magnoliidae, Rosidae and Asteridae, which include many lignan producing families, i.e. Asteraceae, Apiaceae, Rubiaceae, etc. (Umezawa 2003). Although lignans occur typically in vascular plants, these sources normally do not provide commercially useful quantities, but some exceptions occur (Saleem et al. 2005, Calvo-Flores et al. 2015).

# **1.4 Lignans in plants**

Lignans can be occur in plant both as aglycone and glycoside form (Saleem et al. 2005, Sólyomváry et al. 2017a). Glycosides are hydrolyzable by endogenous glycosidase enzymes, if they are also present. These enzymes are separated from their substrates in intact plant tissues. Namely, under normal conditions, enzymes and their substrates are accumulated in the cytoplasm and the vacuole, respectively. This compartmentalization may be related to the protective function of lignans: As is often the case in plants, the biologically active lignans are stored as inactive glycosides. Cell disruption by pests (or by pulverization inexperimental conditions) removes this compartmentalization and allows the hydrolysis of glycosides into their effective aglycones (and saccharide molecules) in aqueous medium. In this process, the glycosidase enzyme catalyzes the hydrolysis of the glycosidic bonds (Sólyomváry et al. 2015a).

Hovewer, function of lignans in plants is not fully understood (Calvo-Flores et al. 2015). Among the lignans and their biological activities, some of their aglycones have potent antimicrobial, antifungal and insecticid activities, thus they probably play an important role in plant defense against several biotic stressors (Fukuda et al. 1985, Figgitt et al. 1989, Moraes et al. 2000, Harmatha and Dinan 2003). The presence of lignans in seeds and fruits is common due to the protection of developing embryos

against pests (Dayan et al. 2003). It is known that many lignans are produced as a response to fungal attack. Their antifungal activity is believed to be an inhibitory effect over the fungal enzymes (Takemoto et al. 1975), and fungal growth (Shain and Hillis 1971). Moreover isolated lignans possess insecticid (Messiano et al. 2008, Taniguchi et al. 1989, Yamauchi et al. 1992a, Yamauchi et al. 1992b, Yamauchi and Taniguchi 1991, Yamauchi and Taniguchi 1992a, Yamauchi and Taniguchi 1992b), antifeedant (Sintim et al. 2009, Garcia and Azambuja 2004, Nitao et al. 1992), larvicidal (Srivastava et al. 2001, Nogueira et al. 2009, Nishiwaki et al. 2011) activity against certain pests or reduce insect development (Nawrot and Harmatha 1994, Schroeder et al. 2006) in a dose dependent manner (Messiano et al. 2008).

Some lignans (e.g., matairesinol and bursehernin) provide protection against nematodes (Gonzalez et al. 1994, Gonzalez et al. 1995) as well as some neolignans (e.g., dehydrodiconiferylic alcohol) express a similar activity as cytokinins, a type of plant growth regulators, but in higher concentration (Orr and Lynn 1992).

# **1.5** Therapeutic significance of lignans

Lignans are recognised as a class of natural product with wide range of remarkable biological activities (Calvo-Flores et al. 2015). Their main reported biological ativities are the following: antiviral, anticancer, cancer prevention, anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial, antioxidant, immunosuppressive, hepatoprotective and osteoporosis prevention (Chuna et al. 2012).

Some species containing aryltetrahydronaphtalene type podophyllotoxin-derivatives (*Anthriscus* and *Podophyllum* sp.) as well as dibenzylbutirolacone type (*Carthamus*, *Ferrula*, *Piper*, *Trachelospermum*, *Wikstroemia* sp.) lignans are used for centuries in the folk medicine (Chuna et al. 2012, Ayres and Loike, 1990, Li et al. 2014, Elfahmi et al. 2007, Parmar et al. 1997, Yoo et al. 2006, Zhu et al. 2013, Kuehnl et al. 2013, Chen et al. 2009).

Considering the numerous literatures on the biological activities of lignans, the following subchapters are going to focus on the main biological effects of those lignans that are closely related to our research topic (Table 1). Namely, the dibenzylbutyrolactone-type lignan arctigenin and trachelogenin, the furofuran-type lignan pinoresinol and epipinoresinol, the dihydrobenzofuran-type sesquineolignan

picrasmalignan, the aryltetraline-type lignan podophyllotoxin and its derivatives as well as the dihydrobenzofuran-type neolignan balanophonin.

# DOI:10.14753/SE.2021.2492

Effects Compounds		Used cell lines, viruses, mechanism of actions or assays	References	
		HL-60	Hirano et al. 1994	
		human lung adenocarcinoma cell line (A549)	Gu et al. 2012	
	arctigenin	human gastric cancer (SNU-1, AGS)	Jeong et al. 2011	
		colon adenocarcinoma cell line (SW480)	Mervai et al. 2015	
orua	trachelogenin	colon adenocarcinoma cell line (SW480)	Mervai et al. 2015	
ıti-tum	pinoresinol	colon, leukemia, breast and hepatocarcinoma cells	López-Biedma et al. 2016, Fini et al. 2008, Sepporta et al. 2013, Zhang et al. 2018a	
An	epipinoresinol	colon adenocarcinoma cell line (SW480)	Sólyomváry et al. 2017b	
		B16 melanoma 4A5	Nakashima et al. 2010	
	balanophonin	human tumor lines: HeLa, HepG2, SW480, HL-60, MCF-7, SK-MEL-5, SK-OV-3, SGC-7901, SMMC-7721	Lee et al. 2007 and 2008, Li et al. 201, Huang et al. 2013, Shang et al. 2013, Devkota et al. 2014, Woo et al. 2016, Guo et al. 2015, Wang et al. 2010	
nt	arctigenin	ROS level of Raw264.7cells were determined	Xianjuan et al. 2011	
xida	pinoresinol	MCF-7	Chin et al. 2008, López-Biedma et al. 2016	
ntio	epipinoresinol	in vitro against DPPH	Wang et al. 2018	
A	balanophonin	on-line HPLC-ABTS and ORAC assays	Mohamadi et al. 2015	
tory	arctigenin	inhibition of the expression of nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) and its enzymatic activity; suppress the mitogen-induced tryptophan breakdown	Zhao et al. 2009; Kuehnl et al. 2013	
nti- ımal	trachelogenin	suppress the mitogen-induced tryptophan breakdown	Kuehnl et al. 2013	
A	pinoresinol	endothelial cells	Spilioti et al. 2014	
.u	balanophonin	RAW 264.7 cells	Ma et al. 2013, Xie et al. 2013	
ral	arctigenin	Human immunodeficiency virus 1 (HIV1)	Eich et al. 1996	
ttivi	trachelogenin	Hepatitis C	Quan et al. 2016	
An	epipinoresinol	Hepatitis B	Zhao et al. 2014	

#### Table 1. Biological effects of the lignans that are closely related to the focus of the thesis.

# 1.6 Description of plant groups involved in our study

## 1.6.1 Cardueae tribe

## 1.6.1.1 Taxonomical classification, spread and general characteristics

The Asteraceae (syn. Compositae) are among the largest families of flowering plants, comprising more than 23,000 species and about 1600 genera. Species of the family is represented worldwide (Jeffrey 2007). The tribe *Cardueae* is a large tribe in this family, comprises about 2500 species organized in 83 genera. Within the tribe *Cardueae*, several large genera are found, such as *Carduus* (approx. 90 species), *Cirsium* (200-300 species), *Onopordum* (approx. 60 species) and *Jurinea* (approx. 200 species) (Häffner and Hellwig 1999).

Hungarian flora comprises only a few species among the large genera mentioned above. Six species of *Carduus*, twelve species of *Cirsium*, two of *Jurinea*, while only one of the *Onopordum* species can be found in Hungary (Simon 2000).

The species are drought tolerant biennial or rarely perennial plants. Their leaves are spiny and the capitulum consists of disk and ray flowers. The fruit wall and the dicotyledonous seed incorporated into a cypsela fruits with hairy pappus.

# 1.6.1.2 Botanical description

# 1.6.1.2.1 Cirsium Mill. genus

*Cirsium* species are widely distributed in the Northern Hemisphere. Spiny, biennial or perennial herbs, rarely annuals (Susanna and Garcia-Jacas 2007). Species which were investigated are *C. arvense* (L.) Scop. (creeping thistle, mezei aszat), *C. boujartii* (Pill. et Mitterp.) Schultz. Bip. ('no English name', pécsvidéki aszat), *C. brachycephalum* Juratzka ('no English name', kisfészkű aszat), *C. canum* (L.) All. (Queen Anne's thistle, szürke aszat), *C. eriophorum* (L.) Scop. (woolly thistle, gyapjas aszat), *C. oleraceum* (L.) Scop. (cabbage thistle, halovány aszat), *C. palustre* (L.) Scop. (marsh thistle, mocsári aszat), *C. rivulare* (Jacq.) All. (plume thistle, csermelyaszat) and *C. vulgare* (Savi) Ten. (spear thistle, közönséges aszat) (Figure 5).

*Cirsium* species are traditionally classified into three sections, namely, Cephalonoplos, Chamaeleon (syn. Cirsium) and Eriolepis. The nine investigated species are grouped to these three sections as follows: Eriolepis: *C. boujartii*, *C. eriophorum*, *C. vulgare*,

Chamaeleon: *C. brachycephylum*, *C. canum*, *C. oleraceum*, *C. palustre*, *C. rivulare* and Cephalonoplos: *C. arvense* (Tutin et al. 1968).



Figure 5. The effusive, radially symmetrical disc flower heads of the nine, investigated *Cirsium* spp. native to Hungary. (A) *C. arvense* – by Pavel Veselý, (B) *C. boujartii* – by Attila Lengyel (from his personal blog), (C) *C. brachycephalum* – by Vladimír Nejeschleba, (D) *C. canum* – by Dana Michalocová, (E) *C. eriophorum* – by Jiří Procházka, (F) *C. oleraceum* – by Pavel Veselý, (G) *C. palustre* – by Jaroslav Zámečník, (H) *C. rivulare* – by Dana Michalocová, (I) *C. vulgare* – by Petr Bureš.

#### 1.6.1.2.2 Carduus L. genus

*Carduus* species are distributed in Eurasia, mainly in the Mediterranean region, and also in northern Africa. They are annual, biennial or perennial herbs with spiny-winged stems (Susanna and Garcia-Jacas, 2007). Among the six species comprise by the Hungarian flora, one species: *Carduus nutans* L. (musk thistle, bókoló bogáncs) (Simon, 2000) was examined during our studies (Figure 6).



Figure 6. (A) Depressed-globose inflorescence of Carduus nutans, (B) herbarium sheet of *C. nutans* – photos by Dana Michalocová (C) an achene fruit of the plant – by Marie Konečná.

#### 1.6.1.2.3 Jurinea Cass. genus

*Jurinea* species are widely distributed in western and central Asia, Europe and northern Africa. They are unarmed perennial herbs or shrublets (Susanna and Garcia-Jacas 2007). Two species are native in Hungary, among those, *Jurinea mollis* (L.) Reichenb. ('no English name', kisfészkű hangyabogáncs) (Simon 2000) was examined (Figure 7).



Figure 7. (A) Purple inflorescence of *Jurinea mollis* – by Dana Michalocová, (B) the natural habitat of the plant – by Jan Pokorný.

# 1.6.1.3 Species in the tradicional medicine

Several commonly occurring *Cirsium* species have a crucial role as herbal remedy in the folk medicine (Hawrył et al. 2016), in folk veterinary (*C. arvense* and *C. eriophorum*) (Viegi et al. 2003), and have been used as the part of the Mediterranean diet (*C. arvense*, *C. oleraceum* and *C. vulgare*) (Guarrera and Savo 2016). However, other species are less-used and there is no knowledge on their application. Exclusively, species with folk-medicinal application are listed in the table (Table 2).

Species	Application	References		
_	healing wounds, sniffing, during pregnancy against vomitting, faintings, giddiness, abdominal pains	Guarrera 2005		
Cirsium arvense	diuretic, haemostatic and anti-inflammatory	Orhan et al. 2013		
	dermal inflation or appetizing	Rajaei and Mohamadi 2012		
	intestinal worm	Bahmani et al. 2014		
Cirsium eriophorum	antiseptic	Bonet et al. 1999		
Cirsium oleraceum	diuretic, haemostatic, anti-inflammatory astringent remedy	Nalewajko-Sieliwoniuk et al. 2012		
Cirsium rivulare	anxiolytic remedy	Nalewajko-Sieliwoniuk et al. 2012		
Cirsium vulgare	anxiolytic remedy	Nazaruk and Jakoniuk 2005, Nazaruk 2008		
	diuretic, cardiotonic, antihemorroidal remedy	Guarrera2003, Zheleva- Dimitrova et al. 2011		
Carduus nutans	hepatoprotective agent	Aktay et al. 2000		
	treating eczema	Mustafa et al. 2012		

Table 2.	Species	used in	folk	medicine	and the	eir biol	logical	effects on	human	body.

# 1.6.1.4 Phytochemical characterisation

Already identified metabolites of *Cirsium*, *Carduus* and *Jurinea* plants have wide structural diversity, representing aldehydes, alkanes, flavonoids, hydrocarbons, lignans, phenolic acids, polyacetilenes, sterols, terpenes (Table 3).

Species	Compounds	References		
Cirsium arvense	flavonoids, sterols, polyacetilenes, aldehydes	Jordon-Thalen and Louda, 2003		
Cirsium brachycephalum	lignans (trachelogenin and tracheloside)	Mervai et al. 2015		
<i>c</i>	sterols, triterpenes, aldehyde	Jordon-Thalen and Louda, 2003		
Cirsium canuum	phenolic acids, flavonoids	Kozyra et al. 2015		
	lignans (trachelogenin and tracheloside)	Boldizsár et al. 2010		
Cirsium eriophorum	neolignans (balanophonin, prebalanophonin, sesquineolignans (picrasmalignan, prepicrasmalignan)	Sólyomváry et al. 2015		
Cirsium oleraceum	flavonoids, sterols, triterpenes, aliphatic aldehydes	Jordon-Thalen and Louda, 2003		
Cirsium palustre	flavonoids, triterpenes, $\beta$ -sitosterol	Nazaruk 2009, Nazaruk and Jablonski 2011, Nazaruk and Galicka 2014		
	lignans (arcitenin, arctiin)	Boldizsár et al. 2010		
Cirsium rivulare	flavonoids, phenolikc acids	Nazaruk and Jakoniuk 2005		
Cirsium vulgare	flavonoids, sterols, triterpenes, phenolic acids	Jordon-Thalen and Louda, 2003, Kozyra and Głowniak 2013		
Carduus nutans	flavonoids, sterols, polyacetylenes, hydrocarbons	Bain and Desrochers 1988, Jordon-Thalen and Louda 2003		
Jurinea mollis	alkanes	Radulovic and Milotojevic 2012		

#### Table 3. Phytochemical characterisation of the species.

#### **1.6.2** Anthriscus genus

#### 1.6.2.1 Taxonomical classification and spread

The genus *Anthriscus* belonging to the Apiaceae (syn. Umbelliferae) family (Spalik and Jarvis 1989). *Anthriscus* genus comprises up to 14 species, which occur throughout northern Eurasia from Spain to Japan and in the montainous region of Africa (Spalik 1996). *A. cerefolium* was being cultivated in England at the end of the 16<sup>th</sup> century and in America in 1800's (Liopa-Tsakalidi and Barouchas 2011). Hungarian flora comprises four species of the genus, among them three was investigated: *A. caucalis* M. Bieb. (burr chervil, borzas turbolya), *A. cerefolium* (L.) Hoffm. (chervil, zamatos turbolya), *A. sylvestris* (L.) Hoffm. (wild chervil, erdei turbolya) The genus has some economic importance. *Anthriscus cerefolium* - chervil is grown as a pot-herb, while *A. caucalis* and *A. sylvestris* are common weeds. At the same time *A. sylvestris* had have special

attention due to their potential medicinal values. The genus was divided into three sections – sect. *Anthriscus*, sect. *Caroides* and sect. *Cacosciadium* – based on habitat and their life history. The last section includes several critical taxa (*A. caucalis* and *A. cerefolium*), called the '*A. sylvestris* group', which may constitute a single polymorphic species (Spalik 1996). Hovewer, regarding to the genetical data, *A. cerefolium* and *A. caucalis* do not appear to be closely related. Even though the ITS sequences are already known, the classification of the species into sections are still not resolved (Downie et al. 2000).

## 1.6.2.2 Botanical description

The small white flowers of *Anthriscus* sp. form umbels, their leaves are bipinnate or tripinnate. The schizocarp achene fruits separate maturity into two mericarps, each containing a single seed (Figures 8,9 and 10).

#### Anthriscus caucalis M. Bieb.

Burr chervil's (*A. caucalis*) white flowers form umbels. The tiny, 3-4 mm fruits are covered in hooked spines (Simon 2000).



Figure 8. (A) White flowers of *Anthriscus caucalis* that form several umbels – photo by Barry Breckling on CalPhotos (B) Flowering *A. caucalis* plant in natural habitat, triangular leaves with many leaflets – photo by Keir Morse on CalPhotos, (C) unripen double achene fruits of *A. caucalis* with the hooked spines– photo by Robert. L. Carr. on EWU.

#### Anthriscus cerefolium (L.) Hoffm.

Chervil (also called French parsley) has black, slender, elongated, 6-8 mm long and glabrous fruits when rippen (Simon 2000) with ridged beak (Vaughan and Geissler 1997). The whole plant smells of anise and tastes a little of petter and of anise (Farooqi and Srinivasappa 2004).



Figure 9. (A) White flowers of *Anthriscus cerefolium* that form umbels – by Pavel Veselý –, (B) bright green, bipinnate leaf of the plant – by Dana Michalocová – and (C) its elongated, dark greyish-black fruits – by Vladimír Motyckal on Botanickafotogalerie.

#### Anthriscus sylvestris (L.) Hoffm.

Wild chervil (*A. sylvestris*) has fruits with two mericarps, that are 5-10 mm long and 0.9-1.6 mm wide greenish brown to dark brown or black. The two mericarps are glabrous with a short five slight ribs (Darbyshire et al. 1999, Spalik et al. 2001, Magnússon 2011).



Figure 10. (A) White umbel inflorescence of *Anthriscus sylvestris*, (B) wild chervil in its natural habitat and (C) the brown fruits of *A. sylvestris* still on the plant – photos by Dana Michalocová on Botanickafotogalerie.

#### 1.6.2.3 Anthriscus species in the traditional medicine

Two of the three studied species – *A. cerefolium* and *A. sylvestris* – had a crucial role in the folk medicine (Darbyshire et al. 1999, Farooqi and Srinivasappa 2004, Liopa-Tsakalidi and Barouchas 2011).

#### Anthriscus cerefolium (L.) Hoffm.

Nowadays, principal use of chervil is as a flavouring agent for culinary purposes, but it has been used for several medicinal purposes. A drink made from chervil has been used for several health problems such as an expectorant, a stimulant, a dissolver of congealed blood, a healer of eczema, a digestive and a cure for high blood pressure, gout, kidney stones, pleurisy, dropsy and menstrual problems. The young leaves are used tonics due to their rich vitamins and minerals content (Farooqi and Srinivasappa 2004) (Adams et al. 2011). In Turkish ethnopharmacology, eating the chervil leaves was assumed to treat stomachache (Polat et al. 2013), moreover brewing a tea was used as a shoothing eye wash, while the whole plant was believed to relieves hiccoughs (Farooqi and Srinivasappa 2004). Its ability of lowering the blood pressure as the most persistently recognised up to now, but no clinical studies confirmed this effect (Farooqi and Srinivasappa 2004).

#### Anthriscus sylvestris (L.) Hoffm.

Wild chervil is reported to be occasionally cultivated and consumed (Darbyshire et al. 1999). The use of wild chervil – both for food and medicinal – was rather result due to the confusion with other Apiaceae species than ethnobotanical knowledge (Alleen and Hatfield 2004). The aerial parts of wild chervil were used as a cure for kidney stones, in Ireland and Tunisia also to treat headaches and in Serbia as a diuretic and tonic. A. sylvestris roots have traditionally been used as an antipyretic, an analgesic, a diuretic and a cough remedy (Yong et al. 2009, Olaru et al. 2015). As an abortifacient and remedy in childbirth, while in Europe the powdered plant was used for healing wounds (Darbishire et al. 1999).

#### 1.6.2.4 Phytochemical characterisation

Among the three studied species, the chemical composition of *Anthriscus sylvestris* was revealed in several phytochemical studies performed on fresh and dried leaves, flowers and roots (Olaru et al. 2015). However, the secondary metabolite profile of *A*.

*cerefolium* have been less studied (Fejes et al. 2000), while there is no scientific data on the chemical profile of *A. caucalis*.

#### Anthriscus cerefolium (L.) Hoffm.

Characteristic components of the herb of chervil are flavonoids – such as apiin, luteolinglycosides (Fejes et al. 2003), naringin, rutin, quercetin and apigenin (Abdulmanea et al. 2012) –, and its essential oil (methylchavicol), while its root contains lignans – such as deoxypodophyllotoxin, anthriscinol methyl ether and angeloyloxymethyl-2-butenoic acid (Fejes et al. 2003). Moreover, the presence of eugenol, stimasterol,  $\beta$ -sitosterol was also represented in the plant (Milovanovic et al. 2009), while Flamini et al. (1993) isolated cumarins (scopoletine, esculetine, acetylesculetine) from the herb of chervil for the first time.

#### Anthriscus sylvestris (L.) Hoffm.

The major classes of secondary metabolits are terpenoids and lignans (Borg-Karlson et al. 1993, Chen et al. 2014). Amongst the main components of the plant, lignans were the most studied due to their potential cytotoxic activity (Milovanović et al. 2009, Chen et al. 2014).

Monoterpenes represent the major constituents in essential oils of roots and leaves (Boss et al. 2002). Several secondary metabolite groups were identified in the roots, such as coumarins (Jeong et al. 2007), as well as phenylpropene derivatives, polyacetilene derivatives and several lignans (Ikeda et al. 1998, Kramer et al. 2011). Hendrawati et al. (2011a) have found nine lignans and five related stuctures in the roots of *Anthriscus sylvestris*. Metabolic turnover can occur due to the developmental stages of the plant, the habitat the population and the sample preparation, which might cause the low concentration of lignan level. (Kamil and Dewick 1986, Koulman et al. 2003a, Hendrawati et al. 2011b). Other research groups have identified podophyllotoxin in the roots of *A. sylvestris* in trace amount (under 0.01  $\mu$ g/mg of dry product), small quantities of arctigenin, matairesinol- thujaplicatin-, yatein- and podophyllotoxin-derivatives (Koulman et al. 2003a, Jeong et al. 2007).

Aerial parts of the plant aromatic alcohols, a phenylpropan derivative and terpene derivatives (Olaru et al. 2015), flavonoids (Abdulmanea et al., 2012) and one phytosterol (Koulman et al. 2003a). Although, the lignan content of the aerial parts of *A*. *sylvestris* is significantly lower than in the roots, deoxypodophyllotoxin, yatein,

secoisolariciresinol, lariciresinol, matairesinol, hinokinin were identified in the aerial parts of wild chervil (Suzuki and Sakakibara 2002).

Lignans were isolated also from the flowers of *A. sylvestris*, such as deoxypodophyllotoxin, yatein, (–)-morelensin, and (–)-hinokinin. Morelensin and hinokinin were reported only in the fruits. Moreover, other compounds were also identified, ie. morinin L, and falcarindiol (Koulman et al. 2003b).

# **1.7 Plant biotechnology: a key tool of secondary metabolite** production

In the coming decades, the development of the next generation of the advanced plantbased pharmaceuticals requires several new technologies, such as biotechnological approaches. Modern biotechnology has ensured the possibility to use plant cells for the production of specific pharmaceuticals (Ionkova 2011). Production of bioactive compounds from intact plants depends on various factors, including the species used, the age and maturity of its parts, its genetic composition and both environmental and physiological conditions (Malik et al. 2014). Today, we are able to establish *in vitro* cell or tissue cultures of plants, using the appropriate medium and growth regulators. Starting from callus tissue, cell suspension cultures can be established that can even be grown in bioreactors. In addition, biotechnology is still the most environmentally friendly tool of the production of the desired plant metabolites (Ionkova 2011). Thus, biotechnology offers quick and efficient methods for producing the high-value medical compounds in cultivated cells and tissues. However, the commercial success is limited by the lack of understanding of the complex biosynthetic pathways leading to the desired endproduct (Ionkova 2011).

#### **1.7.1** Callus cultures

Besides agriculture and horticulture, callus cultures offer a wide range of usages in pharmacology and pharmacy. Callus, a non-differenciated tissue represents a defense mechanism of all major terrestrial plants over a wounded tissue. These cells can be cultivated *in vitro* in the presence of several growth hormones (i.e. auxin, cytokinin) for biotechnological purposes. Explants taken from plant tissues generate *in vitro* on solid medium an amorphous cell mass. Its color can range from colorless to brown due to the lack or presence of chloroplasts. Culture and medium conditions (i.e. photoperiode or

phytohormon concentration) considerably depends on the species. While some callus cultures need dark growth conditions, others grow under specific day-night conditions (Efferth 2019). The induction, growth and phytochemical profile of callus depend *inter alia* on the explants and phytohormones included in the culture medium (Malik et al. 2014).

Focusing on lignans and our studied species, several research groups have found that the culture conditions play a crucial role in the lignan-production, thus optimization of these factors are a necessity (Ionkova 2007, Konuklugil et al 2007, Fuss 2003, Mohagheghzadeh et al. 2002). Hendrawati et al. (2012) found that calli of *A. sylvestris* did not have the ability to produce deoxypodophyllotoxin. Therefore, they concluded that differenciated cells are required to produce this lignan. Callus cultures of several *Cirsium* species were established but not for the purpose of secondary metabolite production (Hu et al. 2009, Lalonde and Shorthouse 1984).

#### 1.7.2 Cell suspension cultures

Friable callus cultures are feasible to generate single-cell cultures that are cultivated in slowly shaken liquid medium, called cell suspension culture (Efferth 2019).

Although callus cultures of *A. sylvestris* were described to be unable to produce lignans due to the lack of the differentiation of the cells (Hendrawati et al. 2012), a trace amount of deoxypodophyllotoxin was detected using cell suspension cultures. Feeding the cells with deoxypodophyllotoxin, yatein and anhydropodorhizol, they have found that yatein was toxic on the cell cultures, anhydropodorhizol was not transformed into any detectable compound but in contrast, deoxypodophyllotoxin was converted into podophyllotoxin yielding significantly higher concentration than measured in the whole plant (Koulman et al. 2003a). Different lighting conditions can also be affect the secondary metabolite production of cell suspensions. *Artemisia* sp. suspension culture showed enhanced production of phenolic compounds in light, while cultures were cultivated in dark showed higher production of flavonoids (Mir et al. 2017).

#### 1.7.3 Elicitation and precursor feeding for lignan production

Using elicitors in order to enhance the biosynthesis of several secondary metabolites in diverse plant species is a frequently applied technique in plant cell cultures. As an elicitation technique, adding precursors to the medium activate the expression of genes encoding the relevant biosynthetic enzymes. Thus, several enzymes in the biosynthetic chain can be stimulated by precursor-elicitation to enhance product formation (Malik et al. 2014, Efferth 2019).

Since podophyllotoxin is the preferred precursor for the semisynthesis of anti-cancer drugs, the accumulation of predominantly podophyllotoxin is especially interesting (Ionkova 2011). Elicitation can be carried out by adding growth regulators (a.k.a. phytohormones). In the case of *Linum* species, several phytohormone elicitors were studied in order to increase the lignan production in the cell suspensions of *Linum* sp. Both salicylic acid (SA) and methyl jasmonate (MeJa) have enhanced the podophyllotoxin and its related lignan production in the cells. It was found that elicitation by SA has increased the podophyllotoxin production three-fold, without affecting cell growth (Yousefzadi 2010), while MeJa treatment has been also observed to enhance lignan accumulation (van Furden et al. 2005). As a third possibility, abiotic (Ag<sup>+</sup>, Pb<sup>2+</sup>, Cd<sup>2+</sup>) elicitors were also tested. Silver have been found to increasing the podophyllotoxin production, while Cd<sup>2+</sup> have been inhibited as well as the cell growth (Shams-Ardakani et al. 2005). Finally, Various fungal extracts were also found to be effective to supress the lignan production, they were more effective than pure elicitors (chitin, chitosan and MeJa) (Bahabadi et al. 2011).

# **2 OBJECTIVES**

Our studies were focused on some of the less studied species of Cardueae tribe, which potentially accumulates lignan in their fruits, with the following aims:

- 1. Our previous studies on *Jurinea mollis* (L.) Rchb. revealed a large amount of arctiin in its fruits. We aimed at designing an enzymatic method utilizing endogenous enzyme treatment for the preparation of arctigenin from the fruits.
- 2. As a continuation of recent work of our research group, fruit metabolites of *Carduus nutans* were investigated in order to determine its lignan components.
- 3. Phytochemical characterisation of *Cirsium* spp. (*C. boujartii*, *C. rivulare*), native to Hungary, have been not investigated yet. We aimed at evaluating the chemotaxonomic significance of lignans, neolignans and sesquineolignans in *Cirsium* sections and species and determining the optimal sources from which these compounds can easily be isolated in relatively high amounts (without impurities).

Furthermore, based on the existing knowledge on the lignan content of *Anthriscus sylvestris*, we aimed:

- 4. to characterise the phytochemical profile of the aerial parts of the available, Hungarian *Anthriscus* spp.
- 5. We aimed also to generate *in vitro* cultures of *Cirsium* and *Anthriscus* spp. in order to produce valuable metabolites
- 6. and to confirm the significance of lignans isolated from theitr optimum sources as antiproliferative components.

# **3** MATERIALS AND METHODS

### 3.1 Plant material

Ripe fruits of *C. arvense* (L.) Scop., *C. boujartii* (Pill. et Mitterp.) Schultz. Bip., *C. brachycephalum* Juratzka, *C. canum* (L.) All., *C. eriophorum* (L.) Scop., *C. oleraceum* (L.) Scop., *C. palustre* (L.) Scop., *C. rivulare* (Jacq.) All., *C. vulgare* (Savi) Ten. *Carduus nutans* L. and *A. cerefolium* (L.) Hoffm. were collected from different Hungarian locations: in Somogy Country and Buda Hills. Fruits of *Jurinea mollis* (L.) Reichenb. were collected during the ripening phase in 3 stages (unripe (green fruit), nearly ripe and fully ripe) in the Buda Hills. Whole plants of the *Anthriscus caucalis* M. Bieb., *A. cerefolium* (L.) Hoffm. and *A. sylvestris* (L.) Hoffm. were harvested during their flowering stage in Budapest (*A. caucalis* and *A. cerefolium*) and in the Buda Hills (*A. sylvestris*). Additionally, their ripe fruits were also harvested.

The fruits of the *Anthriscus cerefolium* were stored at 4°C for 3 months prior to applications. The aerial parts of *Anthriscus* species were dried and stored at room temperature.

All the voucher specimens are deposited in the Department of Plant Anatomy, Eötvös Loránd University, Budapest, Hungary.

## **3.2** Extraction and sample preparation

#### 3.2.1 Fruit wall and ebryo separation from the fruit

Fruits of *J. mollis* were separated by manual dissection, resulting in the isolation of an external woody fruit wall (together with the seed coat) and an internal embryo section.

#### 3.2.2 Preparation of enzyme-hydrolyzed fruit samples

Lyophilized and pulverized *Cirsium* fruit samples (0.500 g), as well as whole fruit and embryo tissues of *Jurinea mollis* (75.0 mg) – obtained from about 1 grams of fruits – were suspended in 3 mL (*Cirsium* samples) and 0.5 mL (*Jurinea* samples) of distilled water. Suspensions of *J. mollis* were left for 5, 15, 30, 60, 300, 600 and 900 min at room temperature, while suspensions of *Cirsium* spp. were stirred at 40 °C for 30 min to perform endogenous enzymatic hydrolysis of glycosidic compounds. Afterward, the

samples were lyophilized and extracted according to the protocol shown in the following section.

#### 3.2.3 Extraction procedure

Lyophilized and pulverized plant materials – obtained from several plants, callus and cell suspension cultures and from from about 1 grams of fruits – (0.500 g of Cirsium fruits, 75.0 mg of *J. mollis* fruits, 20.0 mg from herbs and *in vitro* cultures of *Anthriscus* and *Cirsium* plants) as well as enzyme-hydrolyzed and lyophilized fruit samples, were extracted consecutively three times with 5 mL of 80% (V/V) methanol at 60 °C in close capped vials for 30 min, to prepare 15 mL stock solutions, which were used for further analysis.

Lyophilized and pulverized *Carduus* nutans fruits (10 g) were extracted three times with 100 ml of 80% (V/V) MeOH under reflux for 30 minutes. Samples were centrifugated between each step and the insoluble material was reextracted. Supernatants were combined and dried by a vacuum evaporator (at 30-40  $^{\circ}$ C).

#### **3.2.4** Performing acid treatment

Aliquots of the stock solutions of unhydrolyzed intact *Cirsium* fruit samples were evaporated to dryness in a vacuum evaporator at 30–40°C. Acid treatments were performed with 500  $\mu$ L of 2 M TFA at 50°C for 15 min. Next, acidified samples were dried by a vacuum evaporator (at 30–40°C). The dried samples were dissolved in 80% (V/V) methanol before analyses and isolations, which were performed by analytical and preparative HPLC.

#### 3.2.5 Preparation of high-purity arctigenin extracts (HPAEs) from J. mollis fruits

200 mg of lyophilized and pulverized whole fruit and embryo tissues of *J. mollis* were extracted with 2 mL diethyl ether at room temperature applying 10 min of vigorous shaking. Thereafter, centrifuged tissues were subjected to a second and third extraction procedure, as detailed above. After the third extraction, centrifuged tissues were suspended in 0.5 mL of distilled water and were left for 30 min (whole fruit) or 600 min (embryo tissue) at room temperature to perform enzymatic hydrolysis. The enzymatically hydrolyzed samples were extracted with 5 mL of diethyl ether at room temperature for 1 min applying vigorous shaking prior to centrifugation. The diethyl

ether fractions were dried at 30-40°C and called as high-purity arctigenin extracts (HPAEs).

#### 3.2.6 Isolation of pure arctigenin from J. mollis

For isolation purposes, the HPAE obtained from the embryo was dissolved in 2 mL methanol, and 500  $\mu$ L aliquots were injected repeatedly to isolate arctigenin by preparative HPLC.

# **3.2.7** Analytical HPLC hyphenated with UV and time of flight mass spectrometric (TOF-MS) detections

The HPLC-UV-TOF-MS analyses of the extracts obtained from Cirsium species, Carduus nutans and Jurinea mollis, were performed on an Agilent 1260 Infinity HPLC system consisting of a G1315C diode array detector, a G1312B gradient pump and a G1367E autosampler) (Agilent Technologies, Waldbronn, Germany). Column: GraceSmart RP18 (5 µm) 150mm×4.6mm (Grace Davison Discovery Sciences Lokeren, Belgium); flow rate: 1.0 mL/min; eluents A: acetonitrile:water containing 0.07 M acetic acid (15:85, V/V), B: acetonitrile:water containing 0.07 M acetic acid (85:15, V/V). A linear gradient was used as follows: 0.0 min, 15% B; 12.0 min, 44% B. Injected volumes: 10 µL. The chromatograms were acquired at 280 and 348 nm for Cirsium spp. at 280 for C. nutans. For exact molecular mass determination, the Agilent 6230 time-offlight mass spectrometer equipped with a Jet Stream electrospray ion source in negative mode was used for Cirsium spp. and in positive ion mode for Carduus nutans, and Jurinea mollis. Jet Stream parameters: drying gas: (N<sub>2</sub>), flow rate: 10.0 l/min, temperature 325 °C. Nebulizer gas (N<sub>2</sub>) pressure, capillary voltage, sheath gas flow rate and temperature were set as follows: 10 psi, 4000 V, 7.5 L/min, 325°C, respectively. HPLC-TOF/MS parameters: fragmentor voltage: 100 V; skimmer potential: 100 V; OCT 1 RF Vpp: 750 V. Full-scan mass range m/z 100 - m/z 2500; scan rate: 250 ms/spectrum. Data processing was performed by the Agilent MassHunter B.03.01 software.

# 3.2.8 Analytical HPLC hyphenated with UV and high-resolution Orbitrap mass spectrometric detections of *Carduus nutans* fruit, *Cirsium boujartii* callus culture and *Anthriscus* samples

For chromatographic separation and high resolution mass spectral analysis of Anthriscus spp., a Dionex Ultimate 3000 UHPLC system (3000RS diode array detector (DAD), HPG-3400RS pump, SRD-3400 solvent rack degasser, TCC-3000RS column thermostat, WPS-3000TRS autosampler) was used, hyphenated with a Orbitrap Q Exactive Focus Mass Spectrometer equipped with electrospray ionization (ESI) (Thermo Fischer Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA).. The HPLC separations were performed on a Kinetex C18 column (75  $\times$  3.0 mm; 3.5  $\mu$ m) (Phenomenex, USA). The mobile phase consisted of formic acid (0.1% V/V) (A) and acetonitrile (B) with the following linear gradient: 0.0 min, 20% B; 12.0 min, 60% B; flow rate: 0.3 mL/min; column temperature: 25 °C; injected volume: 1.0 µL. The ESI source was operated in negative ionization mode and using the built-in software operation parameters were optimized automatically. The working parameters were as follows: spray voltage, 2500 V (-); capillary temperature 320 °C; sheath-, auxiliary- and spare-gases (N2): 47.52, 11.25 and 2.25 arbitrary units, respectively. Full MS scan resolution: 70,000, scan range:  $m/z \ 100 - m/z \ 1000$ . MS/MS scan resolution: 35,000 and MS/MS scan range: m/z80 - m/z 1000. Collision energy: 10, 20, 30 and 45 eV. DAD spectrum range: 250 - 600nm.

#### 3.2.9 Preparative HPLC

To isolate compounds, a Nucleosil 100, C18 (10  $\mu$ m), 15 × 1 cm (Teknokroma,Spain) semipreparative column was connected to our HPLC instrument (Agilent 1260 Infinity HPLC system). The separation method (gradient program, eluents, and detection) was identical with the method used for analytical works (chapter 3.2.7) with the exception the flow rate and injected volume. These parameters were as follows: 3 mL/min and 500  $\mu$ L, respectively.

### 3.2.10 Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy

NMR data of the isolated compounds derived from *Cirsium* spp. species were recorded in methanol-d4 at 25°C on a Varian DDR spectrometer (599.9 MHz for 1H and 150.9 MHz for 13C) equipped with a dual 5 mm inverse detection gradient (IDPFG) probehead. Standard pulse sequences and parameters were used to obtain 1D <sup>1</sup>H, 1D <sup>13</sup>C and various 2D COSY, TOCSY, [<sup>1</sup>H <sup>13</sup>C] HSQC and [<sup>1</sup>H <sup>13</sup>C] HMBC spectra. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C chemical shifts were referenced relative to the solvent resonances ( $\delta_{H}$ =3.31 ppm,  $\delta_{C}$ =49.15 ppm).

#### 3.2.11 Circular dichroism (CD) spectroscopy

To record the CD spectra of compounds isolated from *Cirsium* spp., a Jasco J720 Spectropolarimeter (Jasco INC, Tokyo, Japan) was used. Solvent: methanol. All spectra were accumulated three times as follows: Bandwidth: 1 nm; scanning steps and speed: 0.2 nm and 50 nm/min, respectively.

#### 3.2.12 Compound quantification

Quantification of compounds in the fruit samples of *Cirsium* spp., *Carduus nutans* and *Jurinea mollis* was based on their HPLC-UV separation, by using an external standard method. For quantifying the desmethyl balanophonin and desmethyl picrasmalignan, linear regression analysis was performed in the range of  $0.030-0.300 \mu g$  of their injected amounts, resulting in appropriate r2 values. The amounts of lignan glycosides (arctiin, tracheloside) and their corresponding aglycones (arctigenin, trachelogenin) were calculated, by using the calibration curve of standard arctigenin.

Additionally, quantification of balanophonin, prebalanophonin, picrasmalignan, prepicrasmalignan and pinoresinol was based on their HPLC-UV separation by using external standard method. Our quantitative method was validated for linearity, precision, limits of quantification (LOQ) and detection (LOD). Low LOD and LOQ values, high recovery data and appropriate r2 values were obtained. Furthermore, intraand inter-day relative standard deviations (low, mid and high concentrations of the isolated compounds is six parallel runs on the same day and on three successive days, respectively) were less than 2.8% (prepicrasmalignan) and 4.0% (prepicrasmalignan), respectively. Based on these results we could conclude that our HPLC method is appropriate for the quantitation of thes molecules.

Quantification of compounds in the intact and *in vitro* samples of *Anthriscus* **spp.** was also based on on their HPLC-UV separation, by using an external standard method. For quantifying the chlorogenic acid, linear regression analysis was performed in the range of  $0.030-0.300 \mu g$  of their injected amounts, resulting in appropriate r2 values. The
amounts of the caffeoylquinc acids were calculated, by using the calibration curve of standard cynarine.

### 3.3 Principal component analysis (PCA)

To perform PCA analysis, the Minitab 18 Statistical Software was used considering nine *Cirsium* species and ten compounds.

### 3.4 Antiproliferation studies

Cell proliferation was investigated on SW480 colon adenocarcinoma cell line (ATCC, CCL 228). Cells were cultured in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37 °C in RPMI medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 100 U/mL penicillin and 100  $\mu$ g/mL streptomycin. For the proliferation assay, cells were seeded into 96-well plates at a density of 3000 cells/well, containing the isolated compounds: balanophonin, desmethyl balanophonin, picrasmalignan, desmethyl picrasmalignan (each at 25, 50 and 100  $\mu$ M), prebalanophonin, prepicrasmalignan (each at 50 and 100  $\mu$ M) or podophyllotoxin (10 and 20 nM) and incubated for 48 h. Control cells were incubated in culture media. To follow cell proliferation, the sulforhodamine B (SRB) colorimetric assay was used. Podophyllotoxin, used as a positive control, showed a cell growth inhibition of 30 and 55% at 10 and 20 nM, respectively.

### 3.5 Cell- and tissue cultures

#### 3.5.1 Establishing in vitro callus cultures

Ripe fruits of *Cirsium boujratii* and *Anthriscus cerefolium* were surface sterilized with 70% (V/V) NaOCl solution containing for twice 10 min, then were rinsed three times into demineralized sterile water (10 min per rinse). The fruits were then blotted on sterile filter paper sheets before cutting them half to ensure a wounded surface. The half fruits were placed on half and whole strength Murashige and Skoog (MS) (Murashige and Skoog 1962) medium supplemented with different growth regulators. Both the applied MS media were modified by the reduction of the iron level. The composition of the used basic media is summarized in the Table 4 and the supplementation in Table 5. All the media formulations contained 3% sucrose and 7% (w/v) agar, pH was adjusted to 5.7 before autoclaving. The autoclaving time was set to 20 minutes at 121°C.

		<sup>1</sup> / <sub>2</sub> MS (mg/l)	MS (mg/l)
Ma	cro elements		
	Potassium nitrate	950	1900
	Ammonium nitrate	825	1650
	Calcium chloride	220	440
	Magnesium sulfate	185	370
	Monopotassium phosphate	85	170
Mic	pro elements		
	Boric acid	3.10	6.20
	Manganese (II) sulfate dihydrate	11.15	22.30
	Zinc sulfate heptahydrate	4.3	8.60
	Sodium molybdate dihydrate	0.125	0.25
	Copper (II) sulfate pentahydrate	0.0125	0.025
	Cobalt(II) chloride hexahydrate	0.0125	0.025
Ferr	ric sodium EDTA	25	25
Pota	assium iodide	0.83	0.83
Vita	amins		
	Inositol	100	100
	Thiamine (B1)	0.1	0.1
	Niacin (B3)	0.5	0.5
	Pyridoxine (B6)	0.5	0.5

#### Table 4. Composition of 1/2 MS and MS basal media (Values are given in mg/l).

The cultures were grown at 12/12h photoperiod with approx. 3000 lux light provided by cool and warm white fluorescent lamps, or in dark at 22°C. Subcultivation occurred monthly.

Table 5. Different media variants: abbreviations and compositions according to the basic medium and growth regulators.

Medium abbreviation	Medium composition
<sup>1</sup> / <sub>2</sub> MS 7	<sup>1</sup> / <sub>2</sub> MS basic medium + 1 mg/l ZEA + 2 mg/l NAA
<sup>1</sup> / <sub>2</sub> MS 8	$\frac{1}{2}$ MS basic medium + 1 mg/l ZEA + 2 mg/ml 2,4-D
MS 4	MS basic medium + 2 mg/l 2,4-D + 2 mg/l BAP
4	MS basic medium + 2 mg/l BAP +1 mg/l NAA
MS <sup>IVS-BAP</sup>	MS basic medium + 0.1 mg/l IBA + 1 mg/l BAP

#### 3.5.2 Cell suspension cultures

Cell suspension culture is based on the calli of *Anthriscus cerefolium* cultivated on MS4 medium. The medium was the same MS4 as mentioned in the previous subchapter, but lacking agar. 2-2 g calli were transferred into each Erlenmeyer lombic, containing 40 mL of medium and was stirred at 100 rpm. Cultures were grown at 22°C on light without dark period (with the same light condition mentioned in the previous subchapter). Subcultivation occurred monthly.

#### 3.5.3 Experiments on elicitation

Cell suspension cultures of *Anthriscus cerefolium* were grown for 7 days, prior elicitation. Elicitors were added to the cultures that were in the linear phase of the cellular-growht curve.

Stock solutions of jasmonic acid (JA) and salycilic acid (SA) were dissolved in EtOH, while yeast extract (YE) in destilled water (DW) and sterile filtered through a 0.22  $\mu$ m sterile filter (FilterBio; China). The final concentration of the elicitors occurred as follows: JA and SA 10  $\mu$ M and YE in 50  $\mu$ g/ml. Equivalent amount of DW were added to the control cultures. The incubation time was 1, 3, 5 and 7 days. The experiment was made in triplicate.

# **4 RESULTS**

#### 4.1 Phytochemical characterisation of the Cardueae fruits

#### 4.1.1 Anylsis of Jurinea mollis fruit

To determine the phytochemical profile of *J. mollis* fruits, intact (non-hydolysed) fruit sample as well as enzyme-hydrolysed samples were analysed by HPLC-UV. Figure 11 demonstrate the results of these analyses.



Figure 11. HPLC-UV elution profiles ( $\lambda = 280$  nm) of the *J. mollis* fruit extracts obtained from the nonhydrolyzed intact (A) and enzymatically hydrolyzed (B) samples, together with the structures of the lignans. Data in parentheses represent the amount of compounds expressed in mg/g and µmol/g values. The amount of arctiin (compound 1) was calculated based on arctigenin (compound 2).

A specific conversion of compound 1 of the intact fruit sample (Figure 11A) into compound 2 during enzymatic hydrolysis (Figure 11B) was followed by LC-UV-MS. Performing LC-MS analysis in positive ion mode, the protonated molecular ions of compound 1 (m/z 535) and compound 2 (m/z 373) showed the presence of an additional 162 Da moiety (corresponding to a glucosyl unit) in compound 1. These results suggest the presence of the glucoside arctiin and its aglycone arctigenin in *J. mollis* fruit. Arctigenin was isolated using preparative HPLC and additional identification of the isolated compound was carried out by CD and NMR spectroscopy.

For isolation purposes, *J. mollis* fruit composition at three rippening stages were compared (Figure 12).



Figure 12. (A) Fruits of *Jurinea mollis* during their ripening stages: unripe, green fruit (R1), nearly ripe fruit (R2) and fully ripe fruit (R3) and (B) the corresponding composition of the lignan content (R1, R2 and R3) in these three ripening stages of fruits. Reproducibility characterization was performed by analysis of additional fruit samples which were collected in R1, R2 and R3 stages (in total, three samples of each, measured in triplicates) and differences were characterized by the RSD percentages, varying from 3.2 RSD% (arctigenin in R3 sample) to 11.7 RSD% (arctigenin in R1 sample).

The highest amount of arctiin was determined in the ripe fruit (R3), thus ripe fruits were used in the following experiments. According to the results above, the ripe fruits were investigated in further studies. The arctiin and arctigenin content of the whole ripe fruits and the embryo as well as the fruit wall were compared by HPLC-UV. Results of this analysis confirmed that both compounds were exclusively found in the embryo part of the fruit, containing 71.5 mg/g arctiin and 2.23 mg/g arctigenin.

#### 4.1.1.1 Optimization of enzymatic hydrolysis

In order to optimise the conditions of the enzymatic hydrolysis, whole ripe fruit and its separated embryo part were investigated. The conversion of arctiin into arctigenin was monitored by HPLC-UV as a function of the hydrolysis time (Figure 13) (In order to characterize the effects of endogenous enzymatic hydrolysis on the conversion of compounds on a comparable basis, the amounts are given in  $\mu$ mol/g values).



Figure 13. Comparison of arctiin (continuous line) and arctigenin (dashed line) composition in non-hydrolyzed (0) and in enzymatically hydrolyzed whole fruit (A). Hydrolyzation times were as follows: 5 min, 15 min, 30 min and 60 min. While in non-hydrolyzed (0) and in enzymatically hydrolyzed embryo (B) samples the following hydrolyzation times were applied: 60 min, 300 min 600 min and 900 min. Samples were analysed by HPLC-UV, at 280 nm. Results mean values obtained from three parallel experiments; differences were characterized by the RSD values from 1.1 (arctigenin in non-hydrolyzed whole fruit) to 4.3 (arctiin in enzymatically, for 5 min hydrolyzed whole fruit).

The quantitative conversion of arctiin into arctigenin was confirmed in both samples but a significant difference was observed regarding to the time requirement. Total glycoside-aglicon conversion required in whole fruit and in embryo tissues at least 30 minutes and 600 minutes, respectively.

#### 4.1.1.2 Preparing High Purity Arctigenin Extract (HPAE)

To prepare HPAE from the separated fruit parts of *J. mollis*, simple, effective and environmentally friendly isolation technique was introduced, which based on the specific enzymatic hydrolisys of arctiin into arctigenin.

Using this method, from 200 mg whole fruit and from 200 mg embryo tissues, 7.9 mg HPAE containing 57.5% arctigenin and 12.5 mg HPAE containing 74.2% arctigenin were prepared (results represents the average of three paralel measurements).

Theoretically extractable arctigenin content of 200 mg embryo tissues – that means a calculated value, derived from the sum of arctiin and arctigenin amount of intact

embryo tissue – was 10.4 mg. Comapring this value with the arctigenin content of HPAE prepared from 200 mg embryo (9.3 mg, representing 74.2% of 12.5 mg HPAE isolated from 200 mg tissue) demonstrates that the three-step isolation method results in a very high efficiency (89.4%) of arctigenin extraction.

#### 4.1.2 Analysis of Carduus nutans fruit

Phytochemical composition of intact (untreated) *Carduus nutans* fruits were investigated (Figure 14).



Figure 14. HPLC-UV elution profile ( $\lambda$ =280 nm) obtained from the intact fruit extract of Carduus nutans, together with the structure of pinoresinol. Data in parentheses represents the amount of compound expressed in meg/g (dried fruit).

The HPLC-UV-MS separation (using TOF-MS and Orbitrap-MS detections equally) confirmed the presence of a main compound representing a molecular formula of  $C_{20}H_{22}O_6$  (Figure 15). Based on this data, the high-level accumulation of the furofuran lignan pinoresinol was was confirmed for the first time, allowing its effective, high-yield isolation. Further NMR and optical rotation data confirmed its identity unambiguously.



Figure 15. The high-resolution mass spectrum of pinoresinol, obtained by Orbitrap MS detection (using positive ionization mode) from the HPLC separation of intact *Carduus nutans* fruit extract (Note: in addition to the protonated molecular ion  $[M+H]^+$ , its fragment ions formed by H<sub>2</sub>O losses were also determined.

#### 4.1.3 Phytochemical characterisation of Cirsium boujartii fruit

The fruit composition of *C. boujartii* was analyzed for the first time. Intact fruit samples and their corresponding acid treated samples were both investigated and four compounds were detected. The acid treatment resulted a characteristic conversion of compounds 1 and 2 into 3 and 4. Comparing the HPLC-UV chromatographic profile and the specific behavior under acidic treatment of *C. boujartii* fruit compounds with those of *C. eriophorum* published previously (Sólyomváry et al. 2015b), the presence of the same four compounds (prebalanophonin prepicrasmalignan, balanophonin and picrasmalignan (Figure 16) was presumed.

Accordingly, the 4',7-dihydroxy structures (prebalanophonin and prepicrasmalignan), being present in high amounts in the intact fruit (Figure 19), were quantitatively convertible into their 4',7-epoxy counterparts (balanophonin and picrasmalignan), respectively. Spectral data, obtained by HPLC-UV-TOF-MS, NMR and CD methods, of these compounds were comparable with previously published results, confirming their identity unambiguously as (7R,8S)-balanophonin, (7R,8S,7'R,8'S)-picrasmalignan, (7S,8S)-prebalanophonin and (7S,8S)-prepicrasmalignan.



Figure 16. HPLC-UV elution profiles ( $\lambda = 347$  nm) of the fruit- extracts obtained from the untreated intact (A) or acid treated (at 50°C) samples (B). together with the structures of compounds and the UV spectra of prebalanophonin and prepicrasmalignan.

Isolation of the compounds was accomplished by preparative HPLC.

#### 4.1.4 Cirsium rivulare fruit composition

In order to gain the phytochemical data of the fruits of *C. rivulare*, intact (untreated) fruit samples and their corresponding hydrolysates, obtained by an endogenous enzyme, were both investigated. The enzyme treatment resulted a characteristic conversion of compounds 1 and 3 into 5 and 6, but compounds 2 and 4 remained untouched as shown on Figure 17.



Figure 17. HPLC-UV elution profiles ( $\lambda$ =280 nm) of the fruit extracts obtained from the unhydrolyzed intact (A) and enzyme-hydrolyzed (B) fruit samples of *C. rivulare*. The structures of the compounds, namely tracheloside (1), desmethyl balanophonin (2), arctiin (3), desmethyl picrasmalignan (4), trachelogenin (5) and arctigenin (6), are shown in Figure 18. Data in parentheses represent the content of the identified compounds, expressed in both mg/g and µmol/g values



Figure 18. Chemical structures of the identified lignans in *C. rivulare* fruits, namely tracheloside (1), desmethyl balanophonin (2), arctiin (3), desmethyl picrasmalignan (4), trachelogenin (5) and arctigenin (6).

Based on these results and the HPLC-TOF-MS data (Table 6), the unknown compounds were presumed as the lignan glycoside tracheloside (1) and arctiin (2) as well as their corresponding aglycones, trachelogenin (5) and arctigenin (6). According to these results, the compounds were identified unambiguously as (8R,8'R)-arctigenin and (8R,8'R)-trachelogenin.

Compound		Formula Detected	Detected	Calculated	Found	diff	
No*	Name	l'ormula	formula	ion	m/z	m/z	(ppm)
2	desmethyl balanophonin	C19H18O6	$C_{19}H_{17}O_6$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	341.1031	341.1020	3.10
4	desmethyl picrasmalignan	C29H28O9	C <sub>29</sub> H <sub>27</sub> O <sub>9</sub>	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	519.1661	519.1655	1.12
1	tracheloside	$C_{27}H_{34}O_{12}$	C <sub>27</sub> H <sub>33</sub> O <sub>12</sub>	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	549.1978	549.1971	1.23
5	trachelogenin	$C_{21}H_{24}O_7$	$C_{21}H_{23}O_7$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	387.1449	387.1441	1.98
3	arctiin	$C_{27}H_{34}O_{11}$	$C_{27}H_{33}O_{11}$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	533.2028	533.2023	0.74
6	arctigenin	$C_{21}H_{24}O_6$	$C_{21}H_{23}O_6$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	371.1500	371.1497	0.78

Table 6. High resolution mass-spectral (ESI, negative ion mode) data of the isolated lignans, neolignans and sesquineolignans.

Compounds 2 and 4 were isolated and the HPLC-TOF-MS results of these molecules indicated a molecular formula of  $C_{19}H_{18}O_6$  (compound 2) and  $C_{29}H_{28}O_9$  (compound 4). Comparing these data with those of balanophonin and picrasmalignan (identified previously in C. boujartii fruit, (section 6.1.3), compound 2 and compound 4 were presumed to be the desmethyl derivatives of balanophonin and picrasmalignan, respectively. To confirm the structures of these desmethyl derivatives, their NMR and CD spectra were compared to (7R,8S)-balanophonin and (7R,8S,7'R,8'S)picrasmalignan. The NMR data verify that compounds 2 and 4 are the 3-O-desmethyl derivatives of balanophonin and picrasmalignan. The broad negative Cotton effect near 330 nm in the CD spectra of 3-O-desmethyl balanophonin and 3-O-desmethyl picrasmalignan confirmed their absolute configurations. Therefore compounds 2 and 4 of the fruit of C. rivulare were identified as (7R,8S)-3-O-desmethyl balanophonin [(7R,8S)-3,4,9-trihydroxy-5'-methoxy-4',7-epoxy-8,3'-neolign-7'-en-9'-al] and (7R,8S,7'R,8'S)-3-O-desmethyl picrasmalignan [(7R,8S,7'R,8'S)-3,4,9,9'-tetrahydroxy-5',5"-dimethoxy-4',7:4",7'-diepoxy-8,3':3"8'-sesquineolign-7"-en-9"-al], both being new natural compounds.

#### 4.1.5 Chemodiversity of of *Cirsium* fruits

As the result of the analyses performed on *C. boujartii* and *C. rivulare* fruits, three neolignans (desmethyl balanophonin, prebalanophonin, balanophonin), three sesquineolignans (desmethyl picrasmalignan, prepicrasmalignan, picrasmalignan) and

four lignans (tracheloside, arctiin, trachelogenin, arctigenin) were identified. The elution pattern of these compounds summarized in Table 7.

Name	Retention	
	time (min)	
prebalanophonin	3.33	
tracheloside	4.28	
desmethyl balanophonin	4.70	
prepicrasmalignan	5.09	
arctiin	5.98	
desmethyl picrasmalignan	7.23	
balanophonin	7.82	
trachelogenin	8.63	
picrasmalignan	9.95	
arctigenin	11.10	

Table 7. Elution of the identified lignans, neolignans and sesquineolignans in C. boujartii and C. rivulare.

The question arose whether some of these compounds (besides to the already identified ones) may also be accumulated in the fruits of the seven further *Cirsium* species investigated recently by our research group (Boldizsár et al. 2010, Boldizsár et al. 2012, Mervai et al. 2015, Sólyomváry et al. 2015b). Thus, all those samples were re-analysed by HPLC-UV-MS confirming the presence of the following neolignans and sesquineolignans as new compounds of these species (Table 8). In addition, comparing the complete lignan profiles of *Cirsium* fruits (Figure 19), the chemotaxonomic significance of these metabolites among *Cirsium* species could also be confirmed.

Table 8. Newly identified neolignan and sesquineolignan compounds and their amounts (expressed in mg/g) in the recently investigated *Cirsium* species.

Species	Identified compound	Quantity
		(mg/g)
C. canum	desmethyl balanophonin	4.8
C. oleraceum	desmethyl balanophonin	2.3
C. arvense	balanophonin	2.9
C. vulgare	prebalanophonin	6.6
	prepicrasmalignan	5.0
	picrasmalignan	0.80

#### DOI:10.14753/SE.2021.2492

Considering that all the three traditional taxonomic sections (Cephalonoplos, Chamaeleon and Eriolepis) of *Cirsium* genus are represented in our study, by evaluating the distribution and quantities of the lignans neolignans and sesquineolignans, the chemotaxonomic correlations of these compounds among the sections could be revealed. Figure 19 summarizes the lignan composition of the nine investigated *Cirsium* species.



Figure 19. Fruit composition of *Cirsium* species grouped into three sections (namely, Chamaeleon, Cephalonoplos and Eriolepis), according to the traditional taxonomic classification. Fruits of *C. arvense, C. boujartii, C. brachycephalum, C. canum, C. eriophorum, C. oleraceum, C. rivulare* and *C. vulgare* are marked with Fr-Arv, Fr-Bou, Fr-Bra, Fr-Can, Fr-Eri, Fr-Ole, Fr-Riv and Fr-Vul, respectively. Compounds of the given species were determined in this study (columns marked with asterisks) or in our recent works (columns labeled with+sign), for the first time. Amounts are the average values obtained from at least three fruit samples (except *C. canum* and *C. palustre*, represented by two and one sample, respectively), which were harvested from different habitats. Differences could be characterized by the relative standard deviation (RSD) values, ranging from 3.8% (tracheloside in Fr-Can) to 27.7% (desmethyl picrasmalignan in Fr-Riv).

Based on these data, principal component analysis (PCA) of the metabolites among the species revealed a close chemotaxonomic relationship between *C. boujartii*, *C. eriophorum* and *C. vulgare*, belonging to Eriolepis section (Figure 20).



Figure 20. Principal component analysis (PCA) of nine *Cirsium* species belonging to three sections (Cephalonoplos, Chamaeleon and Eriolepis), based on the lignan, neolignan and sesquineolignan composition of their fruits.

# 4.2 Antiproliferative activity of the isolated neolignans and sesquineolignans against SW480 adenocarcinoma cell line

Literature data revealed the importance of balanophonin, as it has a significant antiproliferative activity on SW480 adenocarcinoma cell lines wit an IC50 of 19  $\mu$ M (Shang et al. 2013) which is comparable to the antiproliferative activity of the known lignan derived chemotherapeutic agent etoposide, that has an IC50 of 17.1  $\mu$ M against the same cells (Zi et al. 2013). Therefore, we investigated the antiproliferative activity of all the isolated neo- and sequineolignan compounds, isolated from *Cirsium* species, namely prebalanophonin, balanophonin, desmethyl balanophonin, prepicrasmalignan, picrasmalignan and desmethyl picrasmalignan against the SW480 cell line. Results are summarized in the following chart (Figure 21), confirming a significant, dose- and structure-dependent antiproliferative activity of these compounds



Figure 21. Inhibitory effect of neolignans and sesquineolignans on the SW480 cells, determined after 48-h treatments with 25, 50 and 100  $\mu$ M balanophonin (BA), picrasmalignan (PI), desmethyl balanophonin (DeBA) and desmethyl picrasmalignan (DePI), as well as 50 and 100  $\mu$ M prebalanophonin (PreBA) and prepicrasmalignan (PrePI), compared to the untreated control (CTR) cells. The data are represented as the mean ± standard deviation (SD) of eight experiments; \*P < 0.001 compared to the control condition.

Significant antiproliferative activity of balanophonin, picrasmalignan and their desmethyl counterparts was observed (50% in 50  $\mu$ M concentration), while prebalanophonin and prepicrasmalignan were ineffective.

# 4.3 In vitro cultures of the Cirsium boujartii

*In vitro* callus culture was established from *Cirsium boujartii* fruits. Calli were grown on "4" and MS <sup>IVS-BAP</sup> medium (Figure 22).



Figure 22. Callus culture of *Cirsium boujartii* grown on medium "4" for four weeks.

These cultures were producing a single compound that has different UV spectrum than lignans. This compound was isolated by preparative HPLC-UV and identified by high-

resolution mass spectrometric detections (TOF-MS and Orbitrap-MS) and NMR techniques as 1,5-dicaffeoylquinic acid.

# 4.4 Phytochemical characterisation of Anthriscus species

The phytochemical profile of the aerial parts of the three *Anthriscus* species: *A. caucalis*, *A. cerefolium* and *A. sylvestris*, were investigated by HPLC-UV-MS. Results confirmed the presence of caffeic acid derivatives; however, lignan type metabolites were not determined (Table 9).

Table 9. Composition of the dried herb samples, determined by HPLC-UV. The species are marked as follows *A. cerefolium* (A. cere), *A. sylvestris* (A. sylv), *A. caucalis* (A. cau).

	Amounts of compounds in the dried Anthriscus samples (mg/g)				
Samples	Chlorogenic acid (3-caffeoylquinic acid)	1,5- dicaffeoylquinic acid	Dicaffeoylquinic acid malonyl (1)	Dicaffeoylquinic acid malonyl (2)	
A. cere	1.19	1.35	33.2	6.1	
A. sylv	22.6	7.6	6.7	1.05	
A. cau	0.31	_	1.25	_	

Regarding the significance of *Anthriscus* herbs in the accumulation of caffeic acid derivatives, *Anthriscus cerefolium* accumulated the highest amount of dicaffeoylquinic acid malonyl derivatives, in *A. sylvestris* the chlorogenic acid and the 1,5-dicaffeoylquinic acid was characteristic.

# 4.5 In vitro cultures of Anthriscus cerefolium

*In vitro* culture of *A. cerefolium* was established on MS4 medium. In order to enhance the secondary metabolite production of the cultures, jasmonic acid, salicylic acid and yeast extract was selected as elicitors.

sa mples		Amounts of compounds in the dried Anthriscus samples (mg/g)			
		Chlorogenic acid (3-caffeoylquinic acid)	1,5-dicaffeoylquinic acid	Tricaffeoylquinic acid	
CTR1		7.9	7.2	0.89	
susp trol	CTR3	9.4	7.8	1.05	
Cell .	CTR5	11.3	9.4	1.71	
C	CTR7	10.0	9.7	0.80	
	JA1	12.7	10.3	0.94	
	JA3	21.4	18.3	2.77	
S	JA5	24.0	34.6	9.1	
sion	JA7	30.7	39.3	12.3	
nəqi	SA1	9.3	7.6	0.66	
l sus	SA3	11.1	7.6	1.04	
l cel	SA5	9.9	8.0	1.18	
atea	SA7	14.6	12.2	1.58	
licit	YE1	4.8	3.71	0.39	
E	YE3	5.0	3.49	0.42	
	YE5	10.1	10.3	1.05	
	YE7	10.9	9.8	1.11	

Table 10. Composition of the cell suspension samples, determined by HPLC-UV. Cell suspension cultures are marked according to the elicitors: jasmonic acid (JA), salicylic acid (SA), yeast extract (YE), control (CTR), while the numbers represent the duration of the elicitation process, expressed in days.

As the main compounds, a caffeoylquinic acid (chlorogenic acid) and a dicaffeoylquinic acid (1-5-dicaffeoylquinic acid) were determined by HPLC-MS, while dicaffeoylquinic acid malonyl derivatives were not detectable in the untreated (CTRx) and elicited cultures (Figure 23, Table 10). The cell cultures produced uniquely a tricaffeoylquinic acid derivative and using the different compounds as elicitors resulted an increasing amount of the produced metabolites. Jasmonic acid was the most effective to enhance the concentration of 1,5-dicaffeoylquinic- and tricaffeoylquinic acids.



Figure 23. Differences on HPLC-UV chromatogram ( $\lambda = 280$  nm) between the secondary metabolite profile of intact *A*. *cerefolium* herba (A) and its cell suspension culture elicited with 10µM jasmonic acid (JA) for 7 days (B).

# **5 DISCUSSION**

#### 5.1 Phytochemical characterisation of the Cardueae fruits

#### 5.1.1 Jurinea mollis fruit: the novel source of arctigenin

Identifying the secondary metabolites of *J. mollis* fruits for the first time, intact and enzyme hydrolysed samples were used and during the analysis a specific conversion was followed by LC-MS, which confirmed the identity of the compounds as a pair containing a glycoside arctiin (1) and aglycone arctigenin (2). This conversion could be explained by the specific glycosidase activity expressed in the fruit. Namely, the dibenzylbutyrolactone lignan glycosides can be hydrolyzed by endogenous glycosidase enzymes. These enzymes are separated from their substrates in the intact plant tissues. However, cell disruption (e.g., pulverization) breaks down this compartmentalization and allows the decomposition of glycosides into the corresponding aglycone and sugar(s) in aqueous condition (Mervai et al. 2015, Sólyomváry et al. 2015a, Sólyomváry et al. 2014a, Sólyomváry et al. 2014b, Szokol-Borsodi et al. 2012, Boldizsár et al. 2010).

#### 5.1.1.1 Selection of tissues for isolation of arctigenin

In order to isolate arctigenin from *J. mollis* fruits three rippening stages of the fruits were investigated by HPLC-UV. It was confirmed that the amounts of arctiin and arctigenin increased during fruit ripening, reaching their maximum levels of 35 mg/g and 1.10 mg/g, respectively, in the ripe fruit (Figure 12: R3).

Identifying the location of arctiin and arctigenin in the fruit parts, i.e., in the fruit wall and embryo, the ripe ones were used. These fruit tissues were separated prior to extraction and HPLC-UV measurement. Both compounds were exclusively found in the embryo tissue (arctiin 71.5 mg/g and arctigenin 2.23 mg/g). Taking into consideration these amounts of arctiin and arctigenin measured in the embryo, as well as the proportion of the fruit wall (52.3% (w/w)) and embryo (47.7% (w/w)) in the whole fruit, amounts of arctiin and arctigenin could also be calculated for the whole fruit. The theorytical values of arctiin and arctigenin were consistent with their amounts which were obtained by quantitative HPLC-UV determination as shown in Table 11.

	Calculated	Quantitavely determined
	values (mg/g)	values (mg/g)
arctiin	34.1	35.0
arctigenin	1.06	1.10

Table 11. The theoretical (calculated) and the obtained (by HPLC-UV) values of arctiin and arctigenin.

These results highlighting the practical utility and excellent reproductibility of quantitative determination of arctiin and arctigenin in *J. mollis* fruits.

The fruit part-specific accumulation of the compounds was also reported previously in several Cardueae species (Sólyomváry et al. 2014a, Sólyomváry et al. 2014b, Szokol-Borsodi et al. 2012, Boldizsár et al. 2010). In addition to the previously reported results of our research group, the current results on *Jurinea* fruits verified that the achene fruits of Cardueae plants accumulate lignan-glycosides in their seeds. This separated accumulation provides the raw material with relatively high amount of arctiin for isolation of arctigenin after enzymatic hydrolysis (Sólyomváry et al. 2014b, Szokol-Borsodi et al. 2012).

#### 5.1.1.2 Optimization of enzymatic hydrolysis

During the optimization of the enzymatic hydrolysis, the results confirmed the quantitative conversion of the lignan glycoside arctiin into its aglycon, arctigenin, but significant difference was observed in the time required for the conversion. While complete hydrolysis in the whole fruit needed only 30 min, this process in embryo required 600 min (Figure 13). On a quantitative basis, the expected amounts of arctigenin in enzyme-hydrolyzed samples could be calculated by summation of the amounts of arctiin and arctigenin measured in the untreated tissues Table 12.

Table 12. Quantitative data on the expected amounts of arctigenin in the treated (enzyme-hydrolised) samples, considering the measured amounts of arctiin and arctigenin in untreated samples.

	arctiin	arctigenin	sum of arctiin	References
			and arctigenin:	
whole fruit	65.5 μmol/g	2.96 µmol/g	68.5 μmol/g	Figure 11A
embryo	133.9 µmol/g	6.0 μmol/g	139.9 µmol/g	Figure 13

These calculated values (68.5  $\mu$ mol/g and 139.9  $\mu$ mol/g) were consistent with the amounts of arctigenin measured in the completely enzyme-hydrolyzed whole fruit and

embryo. Namely, the measured arctigenin content was in the whole fruit 69.4  $\mu$ mol/g, calculating the average of samples hydrolyzed for 30 and 60 min, while in the embryo 136.3  $\mu$ mol/g, takin the average of samples hydrolyzed for 600 and 900 min.

These results demonstrated that the enzymatic conversions are quantitative processes producing high amounts of arctigenin. In fact, this arctigenin content (136.3  $\mu$ mol/g, corresponding to 50.7 mg/g) in enzyme-hydrolyzed embryo is one of the highest amounts reported to date in the plant kingdom. To confirm the high amount of arctigenin in *J. mollis* fruit embryo, two additional samples from different habitats were collected and analyzed, subsequently to their enzymatic hydrolysis. High amounts of arctigenin were also found in these samples (48.9 mg/g and 44.2 mg/g), highlighting the importance of *J. mollis* fruit embryo for the isolation of arctigenin.

#### 5.1.1.3 Preparing High Purity Arctigenin Extract (HPAE)

To obtain a HPAE, the enzymatic hydrolysis of arctiin into arctigenin was performed, because this reaction resulted in a change in solubility: the glycosidic form of arctigenin is a hydrophilic compound that is insoluble in non-polar solvents (i.e., diethyl ether), whereas the free aglycon arctigenin is a hydrophobic molecule that is soluble in diethyl ether. Based on this, the HPAE preparation procedure consisted of three consecutive steps: 1) purification of fruit tissue using diethyl ether; 2) the endogenous enzymatic hydrolysis of arctiin in purified fruit tissue, and 3) the extraction of the formed arctigenin from the purified and hydrolyzed fruit tissue using diethyl ether.

If the enzymatic hydrolysis of purified fruit tissue is a selective process, it should result in the formation only of arctigenin as a hydrophobic compound, thus, the non-polar solvent extract prepared in the third step should contain a high level of arctigenin.

Applying the three-step isolation procedure in order to prepare HPAE, fruits were purified with diethyl ether to remove all of their hydrophobic constituents, thus the hydrophyllic arctiin was remained in the tissues. Arctiin was converted into arctigenin in aquaeous medium by endogenous enzymatic hydrolysis prior the extraction with diethyl ether in order to obtain HPAE. To complete enzymatic conversion of arctiin into arctigenin in the whole fruit and embryo of *J. mollis*, 30 min and 600 min hydrolyses were required, respectively (Figure 13). Consequently, this procedure, based on enzymatic hydrolysis allowed the three-step isolation of arctigenin from *J. mollis* fruit samples.

Considering the time requirements of the conversion of arctiin into arctigenin, highlight the differences of the initial plant material (Figure 13) as the complete arctiin hydrolysis in the separated embryo required 5-times more time than that in the whole fruit. However, regarding to the quantitative data, embryo tissue accumulates higher arctigenin content than whole fruit tissue. Thus, despite the more time consumption of arctiin hydrolysis in embryo, our results highlight the importance of embryo separation: thereby offering an efficient (89.4%) way for the preparation of HPAE extracts containing significantly higher levels of arctigenin (74.2%) than the whole fruit (57.5%).

#### 5.1.2 Carduus nutans fruit: the new source of pinoresinol

One of the highest pinoresinol content among plants could be determined in the fruit of *C. nutans* (7.8 mg/g), confirming the significance of this fruit in pinoresinol isolation. In fact, the resin of *Picea abies* and the leaf of *Forsythia intermedia* contain more pinoresinol than the fruit of *C. nutans* (Holmbom et al. 2008, Rahman et al. 1990). In addition, as the HPLC peak profile of the fruit extract shows, pinoresinol is the predominant compound, allowing to perform its simple isolation by one-step preparative HPLC purification.

# 5.1.3 *Cirsium boujartii* fruit as the abundant source of rarely occurring neolignans and sesquineolignans

Based on our results, two neolignans (prebalanophonin (1) and balanophonin (3)) and two sesquineolignans (prepicrasmalignan (2) and picrasmalignan (4)) were determined for the first time in the fruit of *C. boujartii*) (Figure 16).

As a result of acid-treatment of prebalanophonin and prepicrasmalignan, their acidcatalyzed cyclization could be observed, forming balanophonin and picrasmalignan Accordingly, the amounts of balanophonin and picrasmalignan (minor compounds of intact fruit, as shown in Figure 19) could be increased, enabling their efficient isolation. Thus, the optimum source for the isolation of prebalanophonin and prepicrasmalignan is the intact, untreated fruit, whereas, balanophonin and picrasmalignan can easily be isolated from the acid-treated fruit extract. The amounts of balanophonin and picrasmalignan in the acid-treated *C. boujartii* fruit (22.0 mg/g and 19.0 mg/g, respectively) are comparable to those determined recently in the acid-treated *C.*  *eriophorum* fruit, confirming these two *Cirsium* species to be the most abundant sources of balanophonin and picrasmalignan, as the highest amounts of these compounds were only 0.027 mg/g (Sy and Brown 1999) and  $2.9 \times 10^{-5}$  mg/g (Jiao et al. 2011), respectively.

#### 5.1.4 New lignans in the fruit of *Cirsium rivulare*

As the result of our analyses, a new neolignan (desmethyl balanophonin) a new sesquineolignan (desmethyl picrasmalignan) and four known lignans (tracheloside, arctiin and their aglycones), were determined in the fruit of C. rivulare. Comparing the amounts of compounds in non-hydrolyzed or enzyme-hydrolyzed C. rivulare fruit samples, we confirmed the quantitative conversion of glycosides (tracheloside and arctiin) into their corresponding aglycones (trachelogenin and arctigenin), as well as the stability of desmethyl balanophonin and desmethyl picrasmalignan, during enzymatic treatment (Figure 17). The NMR and CD spectral data of the isolated trachelogenin and arctigenin, were comparable to those reported in the literature (Mervai et al. 2015, Sólyomváry et al. 2015a). Accordingly, enzyme treatment is of primary importance in the identification and isolation of C. rivulare's fruit compounds. In the intact fruit extract, desmethyl balanophonin (Figure 17A, peak 2) and tracheloside (Figure 17A, peak 1) eluted with similar retention times, resulting in cross-contamination during isolation by preparative HPLC. Consequently, to isolate desmethyl balanophonin, desmethyl picrasmalignan, trachelogenin and arctigenin, the enzyme-hydrolyzed fruits of C. rivulare was applied as the raw material of choice.

#### 5.1.5 Chemodiversity of *Cirsium* fruits

As the result of our phytochemical study performed on the fruits of nine *Cirsium* species, five compounds (prebalanophonin, balanophonin, desmethyl balanophonin, prepicrasmalignan and picrasmalignan) were found in four species (*C. canum*, *C. oleraceum*, *C. arvense* and *C. vulgare*) for the first time. When taking into consideration the fruit composition of *Cirsium* species and the convertibility of the identified lignan-type compounds, optimum sources containing the highest amounts of the required compounds, without close-eluting impurities, could be selected for isolation purposes. Thus using the enzyme-treated *C. rivulare* fruit, it could provide the two new compounds (desmethyl balanophonin and desmethyl picrasmalignan) (Figure 17B).

Furthermore, due to the high prebalanophonin and prepicrasmalignan contents of C. *eriophorum* and C. *boujartii*, fruits of both plants could be equally applied to isolate these compounds (Figure 16A), as well as balanophonin and picrasmalignan from acid-treated fruit sample (Figure 16B). Due to the availability reasons, C. boujartii fruits were selected for isolation purposes. Therefore, balanophonin, picrasmalignan, prebalanophonin and prepicrasmalignan, were obtained from the fruit extract of C. *boujartii* for further assays.

Abundant evidence documents similarities in secondary plant metabolites among closely related plants. No recent study, however, has compiled the evidence available on chemical profiles of true thistles (subtribe Carduinae contining *Carduus, Cirsium* and *Jurinea* genera) (Jordon-Thaden and Louda 2003).

The accumulation of 4',7-dihydroxy (prebalanophonin, the structures prepicrasmalignan) and that of their 4',7-epoxy counterparts (balanophonin, picrasmalignan) was found to be characteristic in the section Eriolepis (C. boujartii, C. eriophorum, C. vulgare) (Figure 19). All representatives of Chamaeleon and Cephalonoplos sections can be characterized by the presence of the dibenzylbutyrolactone lignan glycoside arctiin or tracheloside (C. arvense, C. brachycephalum, C. canum, C. oleraceum, C. palustre) or by the presence of both glycosides (C. rivulare). Furthermore, among the studied species, only some Chamaeleon species contain desmethyl balanophonin (C. canum, C. oleraceum, C. rivulare) and desmethyl picrasmalignan (C. rivulare). Thus, these new natural compounds seem to be specific to the Chamaeleon section (Figure 19).

Accordingly, the conventional classification of these species into the same section was also supported for the first time by phytochemical results. However, the section Chamaeleon may be characterized as a heterogeneous group by PCA. based on the presence of tracheloside or arctiin, the species in this section could be delimited into two, well-separated groups: one comprising the arctiin-containing *C. palustre* and *C. oleraceum* and the other, including *C. brachycephalum*, *C. canum* and *C. rivulare*, accumulating tracheloside.

60

# 5.2 Antiproliferative activity of the isolated lignan-type metabolites against SW480 adenocarcinoma cell line

Our results confirmed the inhibitory effect of balanophonin against SW480 adenocarcinoma cell line. Furthermore, for the first time, the antiproliferative activity of picrasmalignan and the new compounds, desmethyl balanophonin and desmethyl picrasmalignan, were confirmed, with an efficacy comparable to balanophonin (Figure 21). Although these active compounds bearing 4',7-epoxy moieties and their corresponding 4',7-dihydroxy counterparts (prebalanophonin and prepicrasmalignan) are closely related structures, the latter ones were inactive in the concentration range applied. An earlier study analyzing the cytotoxicity of synthetic phenyl-dihydrobenzofuran neolignans confirmed that the presence of an unsaturated propyl side chain attached to the dihydrobenzofuran moiety is of primary importance in their activity (Pieters et al. 1999). Based on this result, the analysis of the structure-activity relationship of our compounds suggests that the phenyl-dihydrobenzofuran, together with an unsaturated propyl moiety (highlighted in bold in the structure of picrasmalignan, Figure 24), may be responsible for the antiproliferative effect (Figure 21).



Figure 24. Chemical structures neolignans and sesquineolignans identified in the fruits of *Cirsium* species. The phenyl-dihydrobenzofuran moiety responsible for their antiproliferative effects are highlighted in bold in the structure of picrasmalignan.

If so, the inactivity of prepicrasmalignan, though containing the effective structure, may be related to the strong polarity of the 4',7-dihydroxy moiety, also present in this molecule (Figure 24).

# 5.3 *In vitro* cultures of the *Cirsium boujartii*: the source of a caffeic acid derivative

Based on the presence of the effective neolignan and sesquineolignan compounds balanophonin and picrasmalignan, fruits of *Cirsium* boujartii were selected in order to prepare callus cultures, aiming to prepare these valuable metabolites in higher yields. The cultures were grown on two different media and on different light conditions. Despite of the various conditions none of the cultures produced the desired neo- and sesquineolignans. However, a compound, having characteristic UV absorbtion spectrum with absorptions maximum at 330 nm characteristics to caffeic acid derivatives, was

detected. Based on the HPLC-MS/MS data of this compound the presence of a dicaffeoylquinic acid isomer was confirmed (Figure 25). Namely,

- a) the deprotonated molecular ion (Figure 25A, [M-H]<sup>-</sup>), and
- b) its fragment ions m/z 353.0876 and m/z 191.0552 (Figure 25B) corresponding to a caffeoylquinic acid and a quinic acid moiety, confirmed the presence of a dicaffeoylquinic acid isomer.

The configuration of this compound was determined by NMR as 1,5-dicaffeoylquinic acid.

Caffeic acid derivatives are commonly occurring in Asteraceae family. Amongst caffeic acid derivatives, 1,5-dicaffeoylqunic acid was reported in *Lactuca aculeata* as the major compound (Stojakowska and Malarz 2017) identical to our isolated compound (Stojakowska and Malarz 2017). This plant and its *in vitro* cultures were found to be also lignan producing. According to these results we suppose a connection between the biosynthese of lignan type metabolites and 1,5-dicaffeoylquinic acid.



Figure 25. The high-resolution mass spectrum of isolated dicaffeoylquinic acid isomer (spectrum A) and the collision-induced dissociation (CID, stepped, 10, 30 and 45 eV) spectrum (B) generated from the molecular ion of this compound, using negative ionization mode.

#### 5.4 Phytochemical characterisation of *Anthriscus* species

Our results confirmed the presence of caffeoylquinic acid-type metabolites chlorogenic acid (3-caffeoylquinic acid), and dicaffeoylquinic acid malonyl as the main compounds in all *Anthriscus* samples we investigated. In addition, dicaffeoylquinic acid and an

another dicaffeoylquinic acid malonyl were also detectable in *A. cerefolium* and *A. sylvestris*. The dicaffeoylquinic acid of *A. cerefolium* and *A. sylvestris* was identified using external standards cynarin (1,3-dicaffeoylquinic acid, authentic standard) and 1,5-dicaffeoylquinic acid (isolated from *C. boujartii* callus). Since (i) the peak of dicaffeoylquinic acid present in *Anthriscus* species and the peak of cynarin were not overlapping, and (ii) the Rt values of the *Anthriscus*' dicaffeoylquinic acid and that of 1,5-dicaffeoylquinic acid identified in *C. boujartii* callus, were identical, we could identify the compound of *Anthriscus* species as 1,5-dicaffeoylquinic acid.

The malonyl derivatives were present in *A. cerefolium* herb at the highest concentration: 33.2 mg/g and 6.1 mg/g amounts were determined. The occurrence of dicaffeoylquinic acid malonyls are extremely limited in the plant kingdom (Gouveia and Castillho 2009); however, they could be regarded to be valuable natural compounds with predictable antioxidant effects. Therefore, in order to produce these valuable natural compounds, *in vitro* cultures of *A. cerefolium* was introduced.

#### 5.5 Phytochemical study on *in vitro* cultures of Anthriscus species

#### 5.5.1 Compounds in the callus cultures

Fruits of *A. cerefolium* were chosen in order to establish callus cultures due to their ability to produce the phenolics at the highest concentration among the species we investigated. The cultures were grown on three different media variants: MS4,  $\frac{1}{2}$ MS7 and  $\frac{1}{2}$ MS8 different light conditions both light and dark. The temperature was consistent: 22°C. Despite the several conditions, the cultures have not produced the desired malonyl derivatives, but caffeic- and chlorogenic acid and 1,5-dicaffeoylquinic acid as the callus cultures of *C. boujartii* did (chapter 5.3).

According to the results, we decided to use the culture producing the highest concentration of the detected compounds for further experiments.

#### 5.5.2 Phytochemical composition of cell suspension culture: an elicitation study

The elicited cell suspension cultures also have not produced the malonyl derivatives. Interestingly, all the cultures accumulated a tricaffoylquinic acid that is not found in itact plant. Tricaffoylquinic acid levels were on the 7<sup>th</sup> day of elicitation 12.3 mg/g (JA), 1,58 mg/g (SA) and 1.11 mg/g (YE), respectively (Table 10). Correspondingly to our results, Tamura et al. (2006) found also a tricaffeoylquinic acid (3,4,5-tricaffeoylquinic

acid) in cultured cells of lettuce, but not in the intact leaves of the plant, and their results show a potent HIV inhibitory effect of this compound. In intact leaves of *Ipomoea babatas* L. (sweetpotato) was reported a significant volume of 3,4,5-tricaffeoylquinic acid (1,4 mg/g, respectively) and its antimutagenic activity was confirmed (Kurata et al. 2011), thus highlighting on the significance of tricaffeoylquinic acid production. A significant increase of 1-5-dicaffeoylquinic acid production was also confirmed during elicitation, reaching 39.3 mg/g level by JA treatment (7 day-elicitation). JA was the most effective to enhance the concentration of 1,5-dicaffeoylquinic (4 times) and the tricaffeoylquinic acid (more then 15 times) level. Elicitation of callus biomass of *Vitis vinifera* using JA resulted an enhanced accumulation of resveratrol was reported (Raluca et al. 2011) and also triggers the production of a wide range of plant secondary metabolites in various *in vitro* cell cultures (Naik and Al-Khayri 2016).

Accordigly, JA-elicited *A. cerefolium* culture could be regarded to be an abundant source of this valuable compound expressing biological significance.

# **6 CONCLUSIONS**

- 1. Precious butyrolactone lignans, i.e. arctiin and arctigenin were determined for the first time in the furits of *Jurinea mollis*. Arctiin was quantitatively transformed into arctigenin in the fruits by endogenous enzymatic hydrolysis. The fruit part-specific accumulation of these lignans resulted in an extraordinarily high arctigenin level in the enzyme-hydrolyzed embryo part (50.7 mg/g) allowing the efficient preparation of an extract containing 74.2% arctigenin by the simple three-step isolation procedure.
- 2. *Carduus nutans* fruit was found to be a new and rich source of the valuable furofuran lignan pinoresinol (7.8 mg/g in dried fruit), allowing its high-level isolation.
- 3. Two new natural compounds, one new neolignan- and one new sesquineolignan, denominated desmethyl balanophonin and desmethyl picrasmalignan, together with new sources of their structurally related, already known compounds (balanophonin, prepicrasmalignan, picrasmalignan, prebalanophonin, arctiin, arctigenin, tracheloside and trachelogenin) were confirmed during the phytochemical study of Cirsium fruits representing nine species. After having recognized the distribution of these metabolites showing chemotaxonomic significance among *Cirsium* species, as well as their transformation properties during acidic and enzymatic treatments, optimum sources for high-yield isolation of pure compounds has been selected. Thus, desmethyl balanophonin and desmethyl picrasmalignan from the enzymehydrolyzed fruit of *C. rivulare*, prebalanophonin and prepicrasmalignan from the intact, untreated fruits of C. boujartii or C. eriophorum, and balanophonin and picrasmalignan from their acid-treated counterparts could be obtained.
- 4. Among these isolated compounds, the ones bearing a 4',7-epoxy moiety (balanophonin, picrasmalignan, desmethyl balanophonin and desmethyl picrasmalignan) showed significant, dose-dependent antiproliferative activity against the SW480 cell line; however, their 4',7 dihydroxy counterparts were

#### DOI:10.14753/SE.2021.2492

ineffective. These results highlight the significance of *Cirsium* fruits in the production of biologically active lignan-type metabolites and confirm the antiproliferative potential of our new compounds (DeBa, DePi) for the first time.

- 5. Calli of *Cirsium boujartii* was were found to producing 1,5-dicaffeoylquinic acid as a major compound without lignans. The lack of the lignan content of the calli presumed the fact that the biosynthetic pathway may blocked at some point in undifferenciated cells.
- 6. Caffeoylquinic acid derivatives were detected in the aerial part of *Anthriscus cerefolium*, *A. caucalis* and *A. sylvestris*, in *A. caucalis* for the first time. *In vitro* cultures of *A. cerefolium*, after an optimized elicitation (using jasmonic acid for 7 days) accumulated 1,5-dicaffeoylquinic acid as a main component in high level.

# 7 SUMMARY

Plant secondary metabolites may have biological effect on human health, hence these metabolites are widely researched. Among them, lignans belonging to phenolics, have special relevance in the cancer theraphy. However, their available amount derived from plants is limited and their total synthesis is uneconomical/unresolved. Therefore, finding abundant sources and/or using cell- and tissue cultures in order to expand the properties of the cost-effective way of lignan production is a crucial point of today's research. In this study:

(i) the phytochemical characterisation of the fruits and herbs of selected plants belonging to *Cardueae* tribe (Asteraceae family) and *Anthriscus* genus was accomplished;

(ii) *in vitro* cultures were established in order to produce lignans and to scale up their production and

(iii) the antiproliferative significance of compounds isolated from their optimal sources was confirmed.

Enzyme hydrolysed embrio of *Jurinea mollis* fruits contained arctigenin at a high concentration allowing the simple three-step isolation procedure to be as efficient as the yield of arctigenin was 74.2% from an extract.

In total, eleven lignan compounds were identified in the fruits of *Carduus nutans* and in nine *Cirsium* species (pinoresinol, desmethyl balanophonin, desmethyl picrasmalignan, balanophonin, picrasmalignan, prebalanophonin, prepicrasmalignan, arctiin, arctigenin, tracheloside, trachelogenin). Amongst these compunds, the desmethyl derivatives of balanophonin and picrasmalignan were published the first time as new natural compounds.

Antiproliferative activity of the neolignans and sesquineolignans of *Cirsium* spp. against SW480 was investigated and desmethyl balanophonin, desmethyl picrasmalignan, balanophonin and picrasmalignan have shown a significant antiproliferative activity, while prebalanophonin and prepicrasmalignan were ineffective.

Herb of *Anthriscus* spp. produced unique malonyl derivatives of dicaffeoylquinic acids. *In vitro* callus cultures were prepared from *Cirsium boujartii* and *Anthriscus cerefolium*, confirming their 1,5-dicaffeoylquinic acid producing ability.

# 8 Összefoglalás

A másodlagos növényi anyagcseretermékek jelentős hatásaik miatt intenzíven kutatott vegyületek. Ilyenek fenoloidok közé tartozó a lignánok is, melyeket elsősorban sejtosztódás-gátló hatásaik szempontjából vizsgálják. A növényekből kinyerhető mennyiségük ugyanakkor korlátozott, a szintézisük pedig nem kifizetődő, vagy nem megoldott. Így fontos feladat, olyan bőséges forrásokat találni a természetben és/vagy a sejt- és szövetkultúrák nyújtotta lehetőségek által, melyek ezen vegyületek nagymennyiségű előállítását biztosítják.

Munkánk során:

1) a lignán tartalmukról ismert *Cardueae* nemzetségcsoport (Asteraceae család) és *Anthriscus* nemzetség kiválasztott fajainak fitokémiai jellemzését végeztük el;

2) létrehoztunk in vitro kultúráikat lignánok termeltetése céljából és

3) vizsgáltuk az izolált vegyületek sejtosztódás-gátló hatását.

*Jurinea mollis* termés mag részéből arktigenin nagymennyiségű előállítására egy enzimatikus hidrolízisre épülő, egyszerű, háromlépéses izolációs folyamatot dolgoztunk ki (mely 74,2%-os hatékonyságúnak bizonyult).

Összesen tizenegy lignán összetevőt azonosítottunk a *Carduus nutans* (pinorezinol) és kilenc *Cirsium* faj (dezmetil-balanofonin, dezmetil-pikrazmalignán, balanofonin, pikrazmalignán, prebalanofonin, prepikrazmalignán, arktiin, arktigenin, trahelozid, trahelogenin) termésében. Közülük a dezmetil-balanofonin és a dezmetil-pikrazmalignán új természetes vegyületek. A *Cirsium* fajokban leírt neo- és szeszkvineolignánok sejtosztódásgátló hatását vizsgáltuk SW480 adenokarcinóma sejtvonalon, mely során a balanofonin és a pikrazmalignán és ezek dezmetil-származékai szignifikáns sejtosztódásgátló hatást mutattak.

Az Anthriscus fajok föld feletti részeinek vizsgálata során dikaffeoilkínasav malonil származékát azonosítottuk.

*A Cirsium boujartii* és *A. cerefolium in vitro* kultúráiban 1,5-dikaffeoilkínasav teremelődését mutattuk ki.

69

# **9 BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Abdulmanea K, Prokudina E, Lanková P, Vaníčková L, Koblovská R, Zelený V, Lapčík
  O. (2012) Immunochemical and HPLC identification of isoflavonoids in the Apiaceae family. Bioch Sys Ecol, 45: 237–243.
- Abe F and Yamauchi T. (1989) Lignan glycosides from Parsonsia laevigata. Phytochemistry, 28(6): 1737–1741.
- Adams M, Alther W, Kessler M, Kluge M, Hamburger M. (2011) Malaria in the renaissance: Remedies from European herbals from the 16<sup>th</sup> and 17<sup>th</sup> century. J Ethnopharmacol, 133(2): 278-288.
- Aktay G, Deliorman D, Ergun E, Ergun F, Yesilada E, Cevik C. (2000) Hepatoprotective effects of Turkish folk remedies on experimental liver injury. J Ethnopharmacol, 73(1-2): 121-129.
- Allen DE and Hatfield G. Medicinal Plants in Folk Tradition: An Ethnobotany of Britain and Ireland. Timber Press, Cambridge, UK. 2004: 182-183.
- Ayres CD and Loike JD. Lignans- Chemical, biological and clinical properties. Cambridge University Press, New York: 1990.
- Bahabadi SE, Sharifi M, Safaie N, Murata J, Yamagaki T, Satake H (2011) Increased lignan biosynthesis in the suspension cultures of Linum album by fungal extracts. Plant Biotechnol Rep 5(4): 367–373.
- Bahmani M, Karamati SA, Hassanzadazar H, Forouzan S, Rafieian-Kopaei M, Kazemi-Ghoshchi B, Asadzadeh J, Kheiri A, Bamani E. (2014) Ethnobotanic study of medicinal plants in Urmia city: Identification and traditional using of antiparasites plants. Asian Pac J Trop Dis, 4(Suppl 2): S906-910.
- Bain JF and Desrochers AM. (1988) Flavonoids of *Carduus nutans* and *C. acanthoides*.Biochem Syst Ecol, 16(3): 265-268.
- Boldizsár I, Kraszni M, Tóth F, Noszál B, Molnár-Perl I. (2010) Complementary fragmentation pattern analysis by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry and liquid

chromatography tandem mass spectrometry confirmed the precious lignan content of *Cirsium* weeds. J Chromatogr A, 1217(40): 6281-6289.

- Boldizsár I, Kraszni M, Tóth F, Tóth G, Sólyomváry A, Noszál B, Záray G, Molnár-Perl I. (2012) The role of harmonized, gas and liquid chromatography mass spectrometry in the discovery of the neolignan balanophonin in the fruit wall of *Cirsium vulgare*. J Chromatogr A, 1264: 143-147.
- Bonet MÁ, Parada M, Selega A, Vallés J. (1999) Studies on pharmaceutical ethnobotany in the regions of L'Alt Emporda' and Les Guilleries (Catalonia, Iberian Peninsula). J Ethnopharmacol, 68(1-3): 145-168.
- Borg-Karlson AK, Valterová I, Nilsson LA. (1993) Volatile compounds from flowers of six species in the family Apiaceae: Bouquets for different pollinators? Phytochemistry, 35(1): 111–119.
- Bos R, Koulman A, Woerdenbag HJ, Quax WJ, Pras N. (2002) Volatile components from Anthriscus sylvestris (L.) Hoffm. J Chromatogr A, 966(1-2): 233–238.
- Broomhead AJ, Rahman MMA, Dewick PM, Jackson DE, Lucas JA. (1991) Biosynthesis of Podophyllum lignans. Part 5. Matairesinol as precursor of Podophyllum lignans. Phytochemistry, 30(5): 1489-1492.
- Calvo-Flores FG, Dobado JA, Isac-García J, Martín-Martínez FJ. Lignins and Lignans as Renewable Raw Materials. Wiley, 2015: 313-454.
- Canel C, Moraes RM, Daya FE, Ferreira D. (2000) Podophyllotoxin. Phytochemistrym 54(2): 115-120.
- Céspedes CL, Avila JG, García AM, Becerra J, Flores C, Aquenvegue P, Bittner M, Hoeneisen M, Martinez M, Silva M. (2006) Antifungal and antibacterial activites of Araucaria araucana (Mol.) K. Koch heartwood lignans. Z Naturforsch C, 61(1-2): 35-43.
- Chang J, Reiner J, Xie J. (2005) Progress on the Chemistry of Dibenzocyclooctadiene Lignans. Chem Rev, 105(12): 4581-4609.
- Chen H, Jiang HZ, Li YC, Wei GQ, Geng Y, Ma CY. (2014) Antitumor constituents from Anthriscus sylvestris (L.) Hoffm. Asian Pac . Cancer Prev, 15(6): 2803–2807.

- Chen Y, Fu WW, Sun LX, Wang Q, Qi W, Yu H. (2009) A new coumarin from Wikstroemia indica (L.) C. A. Mey. Chinese Chem Lett, 20: 592–594.
- Cheng X, Wang H, Yang J, Cheng Y, Wand D, Yang F, Li Y, Zhou D, Wang Y, Xue Z, Zhang L, Zhang Q, Yang L, Zhang R, Da Y. (2018) Arctigenin protects against liver injury from acute hepatitis by suppressing immune cells in mice. Biomed Pharmacother, 102: 464-471.
- Chin YW, Chai HB, Keller WJ, Kinghorn AD. (2008) Lignans and other constituents of the fruits of Euterpe oleracea (Acai) with antioxidant and cytoprotective activities. J Agric Food Chem, 56(17): 7759-7764.
- Chu A, Dinkova A, Davis LB, Bedgar DL, Lewis NG. (1993) Stereospecificity of (+)-Pinoresinol and (+)-Lariciresinol Reductase from Forsthia intermedia. J Biol Chem, 268(36): 27026-27033.
- Chuna WR, Andrade e Silva ML, Veneziani RCS, Ambrósio SR, Bastos JK. Lignans: Chemical and Biological Properties. In: Rao V (editor), Phytochemicals – A Global Perspective of Their Role in Nutrition and Health. InTech, 2012: 213-234.
- Conti F. (1998) Contributions to the Knowledge of Jurinea mollis s.l. (Compositae). 1. Jurinea mollis subsp. moschata, a Synonym of J. mollis subsp. mollis. Willdenowia, 28(1-2): 47-52.
- Dall'Acqua S, Giorgetti M, Cervellati R, Innocenti G. (2006) Deoxypodophyllotoxin content and antioxidant activity of aerial parts of Anthriscus sylvestris Hoffm. Z Naturforsch Sect CJ Biosci, 61: 658–662.
- Darbyshire SJ, Hoeg R, Haverkort J. (1999) The biology of Canadian weeds. 111. Anthriscus sylvestris (L.) Hoffm. Can J Plant Sci, 79(4) 671-682.
- Daşkin R, Yilmaz Ö, Kaynak G. (2006) Presence of Cirsium eriophorum (L.) Scop. (Asteraceae) in Turkey. Turk J Bot, 30: 461-465.
- Davin LB and Lewis NG. (2000) Dirigent Proteuins and Dirigent Sites Explain the Mystery of Specificity of Radical Precursor Coupling in Lignan and Lignin Biosynthesis. Plant physiol, 123(2): 453-462.
- Dayan FE, Kuhajek JM, Canel C, Watson SB, Moraes RM. (2003) Podophyllum peltatum possesses a beta-glucosidase with high substrate specificity for the aryltetralin lignan podophyllotoxin. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1646(1-2): 157-163.
- Devkota KP, Wilson JA, Henrich Cj, McMahon JB, Reilly KM, Beutler JA. (2014) Compounds from Simarouba berteroana which inhibit proliferation of NF1-defective cancer cells. Phytochem Lett, 7: 42-45.
- Dewick PM. Biosynthesis of lignans. In: ur Rahman A (editor), Studies in Natural Product Chemistry, Vol 5. Elsevier, 1989: 459-503.
- Dinkova-Kostova AT, Gang DR, Davin LB, Bedgar DL, Chu A, Lewis NG. (1996) (+)-Pinoresinol/(+)-Lariciresinol Reductase from Forsythia intermedia. J Biol Chem, 271(46): 29473-29482.
- Downie SR, Katz-Downie DS, Spalik KA. (2000) Phylogeny of Apiaceae Tribe Scandiceae: Evidence from Nuclear Ribosomal DNA Internal Transcribed Spacer Sequences. Am J Bot, 87(1): 76–95.
- Du Y, Li W, Li Y, Yang J, Wang X, Yin S, Wang X, de-la-Paz OIV, Gao Y, Chen H, Yin X, Shi H. (2019) Repeated arctigenin treatment produces antidepressant- and anxiolytic-like effects in mice. Brain Res Bull, 146: 79-86.
- Duan H, Takaishi Y, Momota H, Ohmoto Y, TAki T. (2002) Immunosupressive constituents from Saussurea medusa. Phytochemistry, 59(1): 85-90.
- Efferth T. (2019) Biotechnology Applications of Plant Callus Cultures. Engineering, Engineering, 5(1): 50-59.
- Eich E, Pertz H, Kaloga M, Schulz J, Fesen MR, Mazumder A, Pommier Y. (1996) (–)-Arctigenin as a lead structure for inhibitors of human immunodeficiency virus type-1 integrase. J Med Chem, 39(1): 86-95.
- Elfahmi NV, Ruslan K, Batterman S, Bos R, Kayser O, Woerdenbag HJ, Quax WJ. (2007) Lignan profile of Piper cubeba, an Indonesian medicinal plant. Biochem Syst Ecol, 35: 397–402.
- Farooqi AA and Srinivasappa KN. Chervil. In: Peter KV. (editor), Handbook of herbs and spices. CRC Press, New York, 2004: 152-156.

- Fejes S, Blázovics A, Lugasi A, Lemberkovics É, Petri G, Kéry Á. (2000) In vitro antioxidant activity of Anthriscus cerefolium L. (Hoffm.) extracts. J Ethnopharmacol, 69(3): 259-265.
- Fejes S, Lemberkovics É, Balázs A, Apáti P, Kristó T, Szőke É, Kéry Á, Blázovics A. (2003) Antioxidant activity of different compounds from Anthriscus cerefolium L. (Hoffm.). Acta Hortic, 597:191–198.
- Figgitt DP, Denyer SP, Dewick PM, Jackson DE, Williams P. (1989) Topoisomerase II: a potential target for nover antifungal agents. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 160(1): 257-262.
- Fini L, Hotchkiss E, Fogliano V, Graziani G, Romano M, De Vol EB, Qin H, Selgrad M, Boland CR, Ricciardiello L. (2008) Chemopreventive properties of pinoresinol-rich olvie oil involve a selective activation of the ATM-p53 cascade in colon cancer cell lines. Carcinogenesis, 29(1): 139-146.
- Flamini G, Bilia AR, Breschi MC, Martinotti E, Morelli I. (1993) Anthriscus cerefolium(L.) Hoffm.: Phytochemical and Pharmacological Study. Pharmacol Res, 27(Suppl1): 33-36.
- Fukuda Y, Osawa T, Namiki M, Ozaki T. (1985) Studies on antioxidative substances in sesame seed. Agric Biol Chem, 49(2): 301-306.
- Fuss E. (2003) Lignans in plant cell and organ cultures: An overview. Phytochem Rev, 2(3):307-320
- Gao H, Li G, Zhang J, Zeng J. (2008) Arctigenin: a lignan from Arctium lappa. Acta Crystallogr E, 64: 1538.
- Garcia ES and Azambuja P. (2004) Lignoids in insects: chemical probes for the study of ecdysis, excretion and Trypanosoma cruzi triatomine interactions. Toxicon, 44(4): 431-440.
- Ghisalberti EL. (1997) Cardiovascular activity of naturally occurring lignans. Phytomedicine, 4(2):151-166.

- Gonzalez JA, Estevez-Braun A, Estevez-Reyes R, Bazzocchi L, Moujir L, Jimenez IA, Ravelo AG, Gonzalez AG. (1995) Biological activity of secondary metabolites from Bupleurum salicifolium (Umbelliferae). Experientia, 51(1): 35-39.
- Gonzalez JA, Estevez-Braun A, Estevez-Reyes R, Velo AGR (1994) Inhibition of potato cyst nematode hatch by lignans from Bupleurum salicifolium (Umbelliferae). J Chem Ecol, 20(3): 517-524.
- Gordaliza M, Castro MA, del Corral JM, Feliciano AS. (2000) Antitumor properties of podophyllotoxin and related compounds. Curr Pharm Des, 6(18): 1811–1839.
- Gordaliza M, Farcia PA, Corral JMM, Castro MA. (2004) Podophyllotoxin: distribution, sources, applications and new cytotoxic derivatives. Toxicon, 44(4): 441-459.
- Gottlieb OR (1972) Chemosystematics of the Lauraceae. Phytochemistry, 11(5): 1537-1570.
- Gouveia SC and Castillho PC. (2009) Analysis of phenolic compounds from different morphological parts of Helichrysum devium by liquid chromatography with on-line UV and electrospray ionization mass spectrometric detection. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom, 23(24): 3939-3953.
- Gu Y, Qi C, Sun X, Ma X, Zhang H, Hu L, Yuan J, Yu Q. (2012) Arctigenin preferentially induces tumor cell death under glucose deprivation by inhibiting cellular energy metabolism. Biochem Pharmacol, 84(4): 468-476.
- Guarrera PM and Savo V. (2016) Wild food plants used in traditional vegetable mixtures in Italy. J Ethnopharmacol, 185: 202-234.
- Guarrera PM. (2003) Food medicine and minor nourishment in the folk traditions of Central Italy (Marche, Abruzzo and Latium). Fitoterapia, 74(6): 515-544
- Guarrera PM. (2005) Traditional phytotherapy in Central Italy (Marche, Abruzzo, and Latium). Fitoterapia, 76(1): 1-25.
- Guerrero E, Abad A, Montenegro G, Del Olmo E, López-Pérez JL, San Feliciano A. (2013) Analgesic and anti-inflammatory activity of podophyllotoxin derivatives. Pharm Biol, 51(5): 566–572.

- Guo Q, Zeng K, Gao X, Zhu Z, Zhang S, Chai X, Tu P. (2015) Chemical constituents with NO production inhibitory and cytotoxic activities from Litsea cubeba. J Nat Med, 69(1): 94-99.
- Häffner E and Hellwig FH. (1999) Phylogeny of the tribe Cardueae (Compositae) with emphasis on the subtribe Carduinae: an analysis based on ITS sequence data. Willdenowia, 29(1-2): 27-40.
- Harmatha J and Dinan L. (2003) Bioogical activities of lignans and stilbenoids associated with plant-insect chemical interactions. Phytochem Rev, 2(3): 321-330.
- Harmatha J, Buděšínský M, Vokáč K, Pavlík M, Grüner K, Laudová V. (2007) Lignan glucosides and serotonin phenylpropanoids from the seeds of Leuzea carthamoides. Collection of Czechoslovak Chemical Communications, 72(3): 334-346.
- Harmatha J, Zídek Z, Kmoníkova E, Šmidrkal J. (2011) Immunobiological properties of selected natural and chemically modified phenylpropanoids. Interdiscip Toxicol. 4(1): 5-10.
- Hashim YZ, Rowland IR, McGlynn H, Servili M, Selvaggini R, Taticchi A, Esposto S, Montedoro G, Kaisalo L, Wähälä K, Gell CI. (2008) Inhibitory effects of olive oil phenolics on invasion in human colon adenocarcinoma cells in vitro. Int J Cancer, 122(3): 495-500.
- Haworth RD. (1936) Natural resins. Annu Rep Prog Chem, 33: 266-279.
- Hawrył A, Ziobro A, Ś wieboda R, Hawrył M, Waksmundzka-Hajnos M. (2016) TLC Profiles of Selected *Cirsium* Species with Chemometrics in Construction of Their Fingerprints. J Chromatogr Sci, 54(7): 1096-1104.
- He YC, Zou Y, Peng C, Liu JL, He CJ, Guo L, Xie XF, Xiong L. (2015) Penthorin A and B, two unusal 2,4'-epoxy-8,5'-neolignans from Penthorum chinese. Fitoterapia, 100: 7-10.
- Hendrawati O, Hille J, Woerdenbag HJ, Quax WJ, Kayser O. (2012) In vitro regeneration of wild chervil (Anthriscus sylvestris L.). In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant, 48(3): 355–361.

- Hendrawati O, Woerdenbag H, Hille J, Quax W, Kayser O. (2011b) Seasonal Variations in the Deoxypodophyllotoxin content and Yield of Anthriscus sylvestris L. (Hoffm.) Grown in the Field and under Controlled Conditions. J Agric Food Chem. 59(15): 8132-8139.
- Hendrawati O, Woerdenbag HJ, Michiels PJA, Aantjes HG, Van Dam A, Kayser O. (2011a) Identification of lignans and related compounds in Anthriscus sylvestris by LC-ESI-MS/MS and LC-SPE-NMR. Phytochemistry, 72(17): 2172–2179.
- Hirano T, Gotoh M, Oka K. (1994) Natural flavonoids and lignans are potent cytostatic agents against human leucemic HL-60 cells. Life Sci, 55(13): 1061-1069.
- Holmbom T, Reunanen M, Fadim P. (2008) Composition of callus resin of Norway spruce, Scots pine European larch and Douglas fir. Holzforschung, 62(4):417–422.
- Hu ZW, Tang RQ, Want R, Yu N, Jiang CY. (2009) Tissue culture and establishment of asexual line of Cirsium segetum Bungee. Guangdong Agric Sci, 5.
- Huang XX, Zhou CC, Li LZ, Peng Y, Lou LL, Liu S, Li DM, Ikejima T, Song SJ. (2013) Cytotoxic and antioxidant dihydrobenzofuran neolignans from the seeds of *Crataegus pinnatifida*. Fitoterapia, 91: 217-223.
- Ikeda R, Nagao T, Okabe H, Nakano Y, Matsunaga H, Katano M, Mori M. (1998) Antiproliferative constituents in umbelliferae plants. III. Constituents in the root and the ground part of Anthriscus sylvestris Hoffm. Chem Pharm Bul. (Tokyo), 46(5): 871–874.
- Ionkova I. (2007) Biotechnological approaches for the production of lignans. Pharmacogn Rev, 1(1): 57-68.
- Ionkova I. (2011) Anticancer lignans from discovery to biotechnology. Mini Rev Med Chem, 11(10): 843–56.
- Ito A, Kasai R, Yamasaki K, Minh Duc N, Thoi Nham N. (1994) Lignan glycosides from bark of Albizzia myriophylla. Phytochemistry, 37(5): 1455–1458.
- Jeffrey C. Compositae. In: Kubitzki K (editor) The Families and Genera of Vascular Plants. VIII Flowering Plants-Eudicots, Springer Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2007: 61-77.

- Jeong GS, Kwon OK, Park BY, Oh SR, Ahn KS, Chang MJ, Oh WK, Kim JC, Min BS, Kim YC, Min BS, Kim YC, Lee HK. (2007) Lignans and coumarins from the roots of Anthriscus sylvestris and their increase of caspase-3 activity in HL-60 cells. Biol Pharm Bull, 30(7): 1340–1343.
- Jeong JB, Hong SC, Jeong HJ, Koo JS. (2011) Arctigenin induces cell cycle arrest by blocking the phosphorylation of Rb via the modulation of cell cycle regulatory proteins in human gastric cancer cells. Int Immunopharmacol, 11(10): 1573-1577.
- Jiang Z, Wu M, Miao J, Duan H, Zhang S, Chen M, Sun L, Wang Y, Zhang X, Zhu X, Zhang L. (2013) Deoxypodophyllotoxin exerts both anti-angiogenic and vascular disrupting effects. Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 45(8): 1710–1719.
- Jiao WH, Gao H, Zhao F, He F, Zhou GX, Yao XS (2011) A new neolignan and a newsesterterpenoid from the stems of Picrasma quassioides Bennet. Chem Biodivers, 8:1163-1169.
- Jordon-Thaden IE and Louda SM (2003) Chemistry of Cirsium and Carduus: a role in ecological risk assessment for biological control of weeds? Biochem Syst Ecol, 31(12): 1353-1396.
- Jung HW, Mahesh R, Lee JG, Lee SH, Kim YS, Park YK. (2010) Pinoresinol from the fruits of Forsythia koreana inhibits inflammatory responses in LPS-activated microglia. Neurosci Lett, 480(3): 215-220.
- Kamil WM and Dewick PM. (1986) Biosynthetic relationship of aryltetralin lactone lignans to dibenzylbutyrolactone lignans. Phytochemistry, 25(9): 2093–2102.
- Kasahara H, Jiao Y, Bedgar DL, Kim SJ, Patten AM, Xia ZQ, Davin LB, Lewis NG. (2006) Pinus taed phenylpropenal double-bond reductase: Purification, cDNA cloning,, heterologous expression in Escherichia coli, and subcellular localization in P. taeda. Phytochemistry, 67(16): 1765-1780.
- Katayama T, Davin LB, Chu A, Lewis NG. (1993) Novel benzylic ether reductions in lignan biogenesis in Forsythia intermedia. Phytochemistry, 33(3): 581-591.
- Kelleher JK (1977) Tubulin binding affinities of podophyllotoxin and colchicine analogues. Mol Pharmacol, 13(2): 232-241.

- Khaled M, Jiang ZZ, Zhang LY. (2013) Deoxypodophyllotoxin: A promissing therapeutic agent from herbal medicine. J Ethnopharmacol, 149(1): 24-34.
- Kim HJ, Ono E, Morimoto K, Yamagaki T, Okazwa A, Kobayashi A, Satake H. (2009) Metabolic engineering of lignan biosynthesis in Forsythia cell culture. Plant Cell Physiol, 50(12): 2200-2209.
- Konuklugil B, Ionkova I, Vasilev N, Schmidt T, Windhövec J, Fuss E, Alfermann A. (2007) Lignans from Linum species of sections Syllinum and Linum. Nat Prod Res, 21(1): 1-6.
- Koulman A, Batterman S, Van Putten FMS, Bos R, Quax WJ. (2003b) Lignan Profiles of Indoor-Cultivated Anthriscus sylvestris. Planta Med, 69(10): 959–961.
- Koulman A, Kubbinga ME, Batterman S, Woerdenbag HJ, Pras N, Woolley JG, Quax WJ. (2003a) A phytochemical study of lignans in whole plants and celll suspension cultures of Anthriscus sylvestris. Planta med, 69(8): 733-738.
- Kozyra M and Głowniak K. (2013) Phenolic acids in extracts obtained from the flowering herbs of Cirsium vulgare (Savi) Ten. growing in Poland. Acta Soc Bot Pol, 82(4): 325–329.
- Kozyra M, Biernasiuk A, Malm A, Chowaniec M. (2015) Chemical compositions and antibacterial activity of extracts obtained from the inflorescences of Cirsium canum (L.) all. Nat Prod Res, 29(21): 2059-2063.
- Könye R, Tóth G, Sólyomváry A, Mervai Zs, Zürn M, Baghy K, Kovalszky I, Horváth P, Molnár-Perl I, Noszál B, Béni Sz, Boldizsár I. (2018) Chemodiversity of Cirsium fruits: Antiproliferative lignans, neolignans and sesquineolignans as chemotaxonomic markers. Fitoterapia, 127: 413-419.
- Kramer M, Mühleis A, Conrad J, Leitenberger M, Beifuss U, Carle R, Kammerer DR. (2011) Quantification of Polyacetylenes in Apiaceous Plants by High-Performance Liquid Chromatography Coupled with Diode Array Detection. Z Naturforsch C, 66(c): 319–327.
- Kranz K and Petersen M. (2003) β-peltatin 6-O-methyltransferase from suspension cultures of Linum nodiflorum. Phytochemistry, 64(2): 453-458.

- Kuehnl S, Schroecksnadel S, Temml V, Gostner JM, Schennach H, Schuster D, Schwaiger S, Rollinger JM, Fuchs D, Stuppner H. (2013) Lignans from *Carthamus tinctorius* suppress tryptophan breakdown *via* indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. Phytomedicine, 20(13): 1190-1195.
- Kurata R, Yahara S, Yamakawa O, Yoshimoto M. (2011) Simple High-yield Purification of 3,4,5,-Tri-O-caffeoylquinic Acid from Sweetpotato (Ipomoea batatas L.) Leaf and Its Inhibitory Effects on Aldose Reductase. Food Sci Technol Res, 18(2):87-92.
- Kusari S, Lamshöft M, Spiteller M. (2009) Aspergillus fumigatus Fresenius, an endophytic fungus from Juniperus communis L. Horstmann as a novel source of the anticancer pro-drug deoxypodophyllotoxin. J Appl Microbiol, 107(3): 1019–1030.
- Lalonde RG and Shorthouse JD. (1984) Developmental morphology of the gall of Urophora cardui (Diptera, Tephritidae) in the stems of Canada thistle (Cirsium arvense). Can J Bot, 62(7): 1372-1384.
- Lee DY, Song MC, Yoo KH, Bang MH, Chung IS, Kim SH, Kim DK, Kwon BM, Jeong TS, Park MH, Baek NI. (2007) Lignans from the fruits of Cornus kousa Burg. and their cytotoxic effects on human cancer cell lines. Arch Pharm Res, 30(4): 402-407.
- Lee DY, Yoo KH, Chung IS, Kim JY, Chung DK, Kim DK, Kim SH, Baek NI. (2008) A new lignan glycoside from the fruits of cornus kousa Burg. Arch Pharm Res. 31(7): 830-833.
- Lee YJ, Oh JE, Lee SH. (2018) Arctigenin shows preferential cytotoxicity to aciditytolerant prostate carcinoma PC-3 cells through ROS-mediated mitochondrial damage and the inhibition of PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 505(4): 1244-1250.
- Lewis NG, Davin LB, Sarkanen S. The nature and function of lignins. In: Barton D, Nakanishi K, Meth- Cohn O (editors) Comprehensive Natural Products Chemistry, Vol 3. Elsevier, London, 1999: 618–745.
- Li G, Li X, Cao L, Shen L, Zhu J, Zhang J, Wang J, Zhang L, Si J. (2014) Steroidal esters from Ferula sinkiangensis. Fitoterapia, 97: 247–252.

- Li LZ, Peng Y, Niu C, Gao PY, Huang XX, Mao XL, Song SJ. (2013) Isolation of cytotoxic compounds from the seeds of *Crataegus pinnatifida*. Chin J Nat Med, 11(4): 411-414.
- Lin CX, Son MJ, Ju HK, Moon TC, Lee E, Kim SH, Kim MJ, Son JK, Lee SH, Chang HW. (2004) Deoxypodophyllotoxin, a naturally occurring lignan, inhibits the passive cutaneous anaphylaxis reaction. Planta Med, 70(5): 474–476
- Liopa-Tsakalidi A and Barouchas PE. (2011) Growth of chervil (Anthriscus cerefolium) seedlings as influenced by salinity, chitin and GA3. Aust J Crop Sci, 5(8): 979-986.
- Loike JD and Horwitz SB. (1976) Effects of podophyllotoxin and VP-16-213 on microtubule assembly in vitro and nucleoside transport in HeLa cells. Biochemistry, 15 (25): 5435–5443.
- López-Biedma A, Sánchez-Quesada C, Beltrán G, Delgado-Rodríguez M, Gaforio JJ. (2016) Phytoextrogen (+)-pinoresinol exerts antitumor activity in reast cancer cells with different oestoren receptor staatuses. BMC Complement Altern Med, 16: 350.
- Ma G, Wu H, Yuan J, Wu L, Zheng Q, Sun Z, Fan X, Wei H, Yang J, Xu X. (2013) Phenylpropanoid constituents from the seeds of *Lithocarpus pachylepis*. Phytochem Lett, 6(1): 152-155.
- Macías FA, López A, Varela RM, Torres A, Molinillo JMG. (2004) Bioactive lignans from a cultivar of Helianthus annuus. J Agric Food Chem, 52(21): 6443-6447.
- Magnússon SH. (2011) NOBANIS Invasive Alien Species Fact Sheet Anthriscus sylvestris. – From: Online database of the European Network on Invasive Alien Species – NOBANIS <u>www.nobanis.org</u>, Date of access 05.11.2018.
- Malejko J, Nalewajko-Sieliwoniuk E, Nazaruk J, Siniło J, Kojło A. (2014) Determination of the total polyphenolic content in Cirsium palustre (L.) leaves extracts with manganese(IV) chemiluminescence detection. Food Chem, 152: 155-161.
- Malik S, Bíba O, Grúz J, Arroo RRJ, Strnad M. (2014) Biotechnological approaches for producing aryltetralin lignans from Linum species. Phytochem Rev, 13(4): 893–913.

- Manso-Martínez R. (1982) Podophyllotoxin poisoning of microtubules at steady-state: Effect of substoichiometric and superstoichiometric concentrations of drug. Mol Cell Biochem, 45 (1): 3–11.
- McCredie RS, Ritchie E, Taylor WC. (1969) Constituents of Eupomatia species. The structure and synthesis of eupomatene, a lignan of novel type from Eupomatia laurina R. Br. Aust J Chem, 22(5): 1011–1032.
- Mervai Zs, Sólyomváry A, Noszál B, Molnár-Perl I, Baghy K, Kovalszky I, Boldizsár I. (2015) Endogenous enzyme-hydrolyzed fruit of Cirsium brachycephalum: Optimal source of the antiproliferative lignan trachelogenin regulating the Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway in the SW480 colon adenocarcinoma cell line. Fitoterapia, 100: 19-26.
- Messiano GB, Vieira L, Machado MB, Lopes LMX, De Bortoli SA, Zukerman-Schpector J. (2008) Evaluation of insecticidal activity of diterpenes and lignans from Aristolochia malmeana against Anticarsia gemmatalis. J Agric Food Chem, 56(8): 2655-2659.
- Milovanović M, Banjac N, Vucelić-Radović B. (2009) Functional food: Rare herbs, seeds and vegetable oils as sources of flavors and phytosterols. J Agric Sci, 54(1): 81–94.
- Milovanović M, Picuric-Jovanovic K, Vucelic-Radovic B, Vrbaski Z. (1996) Antioxidant Effects of Flavonoids of Anthriscus sylvestris in Lard. J Am Oil Chem Soc, 73(6): 773–776.
- Mir MY, Kamili AN, Hassan QP, Tyub S (2017) Effect of Light and Dark Conditions on Biomass Accumulation and Secondary Metabolite Production in Suspension Cultures of Artemisia amygdalina Decne. J himalayan Ecol Sustain Dev, 12.
- Mogford DJ. (1974) Flower colour polymorphism in Cirsium palustre 1. Heredity, 33(2): 241-254.
- Mohagheghzadeh A, Hemmati S, Alfermann AW (2006) Quantification of aryltetralin lignans in Linum album organs and in vitro cultures. Iran J Pharm Sci, 2(1): 47–56.
- Mohagheghzadeh A, Schmidt TJ, Alfermann AW. (2002) Arylnaphthalene lignans from in vitro cultures of Linum austriacum. J Nat Prod, 65(1): 69–71.

- Mohamadi S, Zhao M, Amrani A, Marchioni E, Zama D, Benayach F, Benayache S. (2015) On-line screening and identification of antioxidant phenolic compounds of *Saccocalyx satureioides* Coss. et Dur. Ind Crops Prod, 76: 910-919.
- Molog GA, Empt U, Kuhlmann S, van Uden W, Pras N, Alfermann AW, Petersen M. (2001) Deoxypodophyllotoxin 6-hydroxylase, a cytochrome P450 monooxygenase from cell cultures of Linum flavum involved in the biosynthesis of cytotoxic lignans. Planta, 214(2): 288-294.
- Moon TC, Kim JC, Song SE, Suh SJ, Seo CS, Kim YK, Jin M, Yang JH, Son JK, Jahng Y, Kim CH, Chang HW. (2008) Saucerneol D, a naturally occurring sesquilignan, inhibits LPS-induced iNOS expression in RAW264.7 cells by blocking NF-kappaB and MAPK activation. Int Immunopharmacol, 8(10): 1395-1400.
- Moore RJ. (1975) THE BIOLOGY OF CANADIAN WEEDS. 13.Cirsium arvense (L.) Scop. Can J Plant Sci, 55: 1033-1048.
- Moraes RM, Burandt CL Jr., Ganzera M, Li X, Khan I, Canel C. (2000) The American mayapple revisited: Podophyllum peltatum still a potential cash crop? Econ Bot 54(4): 471-476.
- Moss GP. (2000) Nomenclature of Lignans and Neolignans (IUPAC Recommendations 2000). Pure Appl Chem, 72(8): 1493-1523.
- Murashige T, Skoog F. (1962) A revised medium for rapid growth and bioassays with tobacco tissue cultures. Physiol Plant, 15:473-497.
- Mustafa B, Hajdari A, Krasniqi F, Hoxha E, Ademi H, Quave CL, Pieroni A. (2012) Medical ethnobotany of the Albanian Alps in Kosovo. J Ethnobiol Ethnomed, 8:6.
- Naik PM and Al-Khayri JM (2016) Impact of Abiotic Elicitors on *In vitro* Production of Plant Secondary Metabolites: A Review. J Adv Res Biotech, 1(2): 7.
- Nakashima S, Matsuda H, Oda, Y, Nakamura S, Xu F, Yoshikawa M. (2010) Melanogenesis inhibitors from the desert plant *Anastatica hierochuntica* in B16 melanoma cells. Bioorg Med Chem, 28(6): 2337-2345.

- Nalewajko-Sieliwoniuk E, Nazaruk J, Kotowska J, Kojło A. (2012) Determination of the flavonoids/antioxidant levels in Cirsium oleraceum and Cirsium rivulare extracts with cerium(IV)–rhodamine 6G chemiluminescence detection. Talanta, 96: 216-222.
- Nawrot J and Harmatha J. (1994) Natural products as antifeedants against stored products insects, Postharvest News Inf, 5(2): 17-21.
- Nazaruk J and Galicka A. (2014) The influence of selected flavonoids from the leaves of Cirsium palustre (L.) Scop. on collagen expression in human skin fibroblasts. Phytother Res, 28(9): 1399-1405.
- Nazaruk J and Jakoniuk P. (2005) Flavonoid composition and antimicrobial activity of Cirsium rivulare (Jacq.) All. flowers. J Ethnopharmacol, 102(2): 208-212.
- Nazaruk J, and Jablonski J. (2011). Chemical constituents of chloroform and petroleum extracts from Cirsium palustre flower heads. Chem Nat Compd, 47: 654–655.
- Nazaruk J, Czechowska SK, Markiewicz R, Borawska MH. (2008) Polyphenolic compounds and in vitro antimicrobial and antioxidant activity of aqueous extracts from leaves of some Cirsium species. Nat Prod Res, 22(18): 1583-1588.
- Nazaruk J. (2008) Antioxidant activity and total phenolic content in Cirsium five species from north–east region of Poland. Fitoterapia, 79(3): 194-196.
- Nazaruk J. (2009). Flavonoid compounds from Cirsium palustre (L.) Scop. flower heads. Biochem Syst Ecol, 37: 525–527.
- Nishiwaki H, Hasebe A, Kawaguchi Y, Akamatsu M, Shuto Y, Yamauchi S. (2011) Larvicidal activity of (–)-dihydroguaiaretic acid derivatives against Culex pipiens. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem, 75(9): 1735-1739.
- Nitao JK, Johnson KS, Scriber JM, Nair MG. (1992) Magnolia virginiana neolignan bompounds as chemichal barriers to swallowtail butterfly host use. J Chem Ecol, 18(9)? 1661-1671.
- Nogueira CDR, De Mello RP, Kato MJ, De Oliveira Cabral MM. (2009) Disruption of Chrysomya megacephala growth caused by lignan grandisin. J Med Entomol, 46(2): 281-283.

- Olaru O, Nitulescu G, Ortan A, Dinu-Pirvu C. (2015) Ethnomedicinal. Phytochemical and Pharmacological Profile of Anthriscus sylvestris as an Alternative Soiurce for Anticancer Lignans. Molecules, 20(8): 15003-15022.
- Ono E, Nakai M, Fukui Y, Tomimori N, Fukuchi-Mizutani M, Saito M, Satake H, Tanaka T, Katsuta M, Umezawa T, Tanaka Y. (2006) Formation of two methylenedioxy bridges by a *Sesamum* CYP81Q protein yielding a furofuran lignan, (+)-sesamin. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 103(26): 10116-10121.
- Orhan C, Sahin N, Akdemir F, Markiewicz-Zukowska R, Borawska MH, Isidorov VA, Hayirli A, Sahin K. (2013) The effect of Cirsium arvense extract on antioxidant status in quai. Br Poult Sci, 54(5): 620-626.
- Orr JD and Lynn DG. (1992) Biosynthesis of dehydrodiconiferyl alcohol glucosides: implications for the control of tobacco cell growth. Plant Physiol, 98(1): 343-352.
- Parmar VS, Jain SC, Bisht KS, Jain R, Taneja P, Jha A, Tyag OD, Prasad AK, Wengel J, Olsen CE, Boll PM. (1997) Phytochemistry of the Genus Piper. Phytochemistry, 46: 597–673.
- Pieters L, Van Dyck S, Gao M, Bai R, Hamel E, Vlietinck A, Lemiére G. (1999) Synthesis and biological evaluation of dihydrobenzofuran lignans and related compounds as potential antitumor agents that inhibit tubulin polymerization. J Med Chem, 42(26): 5475-5481.
- Polat R, Cakilcioglu U, Satil F. (2013) Traditional uses of medicinal plants in Solhan (Bingöl-Turkey). J Ethnopharmacol, 148(3): 951-963.
- Pugh N, Khan IA, Moraes RM, Pasco DS. (2001) Podophyllotoxin lignans enhance IL-1beta but supress TNF-alpha mRNA expression in LPS-treated monocytes. Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol, 23(1): 83-95.
- Qian XJ, Jin Ys, Cjen HS, Xu QQ, Ren H, Zhu SY, Tang HL, Wang Y, Zhao P, Qi ZT, Zhu YZ. (2016) Trachelogenin, a novel inhibitor of hepatitis C virus entry through CD81. J Gen Virol, 97(5): 1134-1144.
- Radulovic N and Miltojevic A. (2012) Alkanes of Jurinea mollis, a Pannonian subendemic species. Chem Nat Compd, 47(6): 963-965.

- Rahman MMA, Dewick PM, Jackson DE, Lucas JA (1990) Lignans of Forsythia intermedia. Phytochem, 29(6): 1971-1980.
- Rajaei P and Mohamadi N. (2012) Ethnobotanical Study of Medicinal Plants of Hezar Mountain Allocated in South East of Iran. Iran J Pharm Res, 11(4): 1153-1167.
- Raluca M, Sturzoiu C, Florenta H, Aurelia B, Gheorghe S (2011) Bioteic and abiotic elicitors induce biosynthesis and accumulation of resveratrol with antitumoral activity in the long term Vitis vinifera L. callus cultures. Roman Biotechnol Lett, 16(6): 6683-6689.
- Rappe AK, Casewit CJ, Colwell KS, Goddard WA, Skiff WM. (1992) UFF, a full periodic table force field for molecular mechanics and molecular dynamics simulations. J Am Chem Soc, 114: 10024-10035.
- Sakakibara N, Suzuki S, Umezawa T, Shimada M. (2003) Biosynthesis of yatein in Anthriscus sylvestris. Org Biomol Chem. 1(14): 2474-2485.
- Saleem M, Kim HJ, Ali MS, Lee YS. (2005) An update on bioactive plant lignans. Nat Prod Rep, 22(6): 696-716.
- Satake H, Koyama T, Bahabadi SE, Matsumoto E, Ono E, Murata J. (2015) Essences in Metabolic Engineering of Lignan Biosynthesis. Molecules, 5(2):270-290.
- Schroeder FC, Del Campo ML, Grant JB, Weibel DB, Smedley SR, Bolton KL, Meinwald j, Eisner T. (2006) Pinoresinol: a lignol of plant origin serving for defense in a caterpillar. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 103(42): 15497-15501.
- Schwartz J and Norton SA. (2002) Useful plants of dermatology. VI. The mayapple (Podophyllum). J Am Acad Dermatol, 47(5): 774-775.
- Seidel V, Windhövel J, Eaton G, Alfermann WA, Arroo RR, Medarde M, Petersen M, Woolley JG. (2002) Biosynthesis of podophyllotoxin in Linum album cell cultures. Planta, 215(6): 1031-1039.
- Sepporta MV, Mazza T, Morozzi G, Fabiani R. (2013) Pinoresinol inhibits proliferation and induces differenciation on human HL60 leukemia cells. Nutr Cancer, 65(8): 1208-1218.

- Shain L and Hillis WE. (1971) Phenolic extractives in Norway spruce and their effects on Fomes annosus. Phytopathology, 61(7): 841-845.
- Shams-Ardakani M, Hemmati S, Mohagheghzadeh A (2005) Effect of elicitors on the enhancement of podophyllotoxin biosynthesis in suspension cultures of Linum album. DARU 13(2): 56–60.
- Shang SZ, Kong LM, Yang LP, Jiang J, Huang J, Zhang HB, Shi YM, Zaho W, Li HL, Luo HR, Li Y, Xiao WL, Sun HD. (2013) Bioactive phenolics and terpenoids from Manglietia insignis. Fitoterapia, 84: 58-63.
- Shi YN, Shi YM, Yang L, Li XC, Zhao JH, Qu Y, Zhu HT, Wang D, Cheng RR, Yang CR, Xu M, Zhang YJ. (2015) Lignans and aromatic glycosides from Piper wallichii and their antithrombotic activities. J Ethnopharmacol, 162: 87-96.
- Shin SY, Yong Y, Kim CG, Lee YH, Lim Y. (2010) Deoxypodophyllotoxin induces G2/M cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in HeLa cells. Cancer Lett, 287(2): 231–239.
- Simon T. A Magyarországi Edényes Flóra Határozója. Harasztok Virágos növények. Nemzeti Tankönvkiadó, Budapest, 2000: 272.
- Sintim HO, Tashiro T, Motoyma N. (2009) Response of the cutworm Spodoptera litura to sesame leaves or crude extracts in diet. J Insect Sci, 9: 1-13.
- Sólyomváry A, Alberti Á, Darcsi A, Könye R, Tóth G, Noszál B, Molnár-Perl I, Lórántfy L, Dobos J, Őrfi L, Béni Sz, Boldizsár I. (2017b) Optimized conversion of antiproliferative lignans pinoresinol and epipinoresinol: Their simultaneous isolation and identification by centrifugal partition chromatography and high performance liquid chromatography. J Chromatogr B, 1052: 142-149.
- Sólyomváry A, Béni Sz, Boldizsár I. (2017a) Dibenzylbutrolactone Lignans A Review of Their Structural Diversity, Biosynthesis, Occurrence, Identification and Importance. Mini Rev Med Chem, 17(12): 1053-1074.
- Sólyomváry A, Mervai Zs, Molnár-Perl I, Boldizsár I. (2014a) Specific hydrolysis and accumulation of antiproliferative lignans in the fruit of Leuzea carthamoides (Willd.) DC. Nat Prod Res, 28(10): 732-739.

- Sólyomváry A, Mervai Zs, Tóth G, Ress Á, Noszál B, Molnár-Perl I, Baghy K, Kovalszky I, Boldizsár I. (2015a) A simple and effective enrichment process of the antiproliferative lignan arctigenin based on the endogenous enzymatic hydrolysis of Serratula tinctoria and Arctium lappa fruits. Process Biochem, 50(12): 2281-2288.
- Sólyomváry A, Tóth G, Komjáti B, Horváth P, Kraszni M, Noszál B, Molnár-Perl I, Boldizsár I. (2015b) Identification and isolation of new neolignan and sesquineolignan species: Their acid-catalyzed ring closure and specific accumulation in the fruit wall of *Cirsium eriophorum* (L.) Scop. Process Biochem, 50(5): 853-858.
- Sólyomváry A, Tóth G, Kraszni M, Noszál B, Molnár-Perl I, Boldizsár I. (2014b) Identification and quantification of lignans and sesquilignans in the fruits of Cnicus benedictus L.: Quantitative chromatographic and spectroscopic approaches. Microchem J, 114: 238-246.
- Spalik K and Jarvis CE. (1989) Typification of Linnaean names now in Anthriscus (Apiaceae). Taxon, 38(2): 288-293.
- Spalik K, Wojewódzka A, Downie SR. (2001) The evolution of fruit in Scandiceae subtribe Scandicinae (Apiaceae). Can J Bot, 79(11): 1358–1374.
- Spalik K. (1996) Species boundaries, phylogenetic relationships, and ecological differentiation in Anthriscus (Apiaceae). Plant Sys Evol, 199(1-2): 17-32.
- Spilioti E, Holmbom B, Papavassiliou AG, Moutsatsou P. (2014) Lignans 7hydroxymatairesinol and 7-hydroxymatairesinol 2 exhibit anti-inflammatory activity in human aortic endothelial cells. Mol Nutr Food Res, 58(4): 749-759.
- Srivastava S, Gupta MM, Prajapati V, Tripathi AK, Kumar S. (2001) Sesamin a potent antifeedant principle from Piper mullesua. Phytother Res, 15(1): 70-72.
- Srivastava V, Negi AS, Kumar JK, Gupta MM, Khanuja SPS. (2005) Plant-based anticancer molecules: A chemical and biological profile of some important leads. Bioorg Med Chem, 13 (21): 5892–5908.
- Stojakowska A and Malarz J. (2017) Bioactive phenolics from in vitro cultures of Lactuca aculeata Boiss. et Kotschy. Phytochem Lett, 19: 7-11.

- Su S, Cheng X, Wink M. (2015) Natural lignans from Arctium lappa modulate pglycoprotein efflux function in multidrug resistant cancer cells. Phytomedicine, 22(2): 301-307.
- Susanna A and Garcia-Jacas E. III. Tribe Cardueae. In: Kubitzki K (editor) The Families and Genera of Vascular Plants. VIII Flowering Plants-Eudicots, Springer Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2007: 123-145.
- Susanti S, Iwasaki H, Inafuku M, Taira N, Oku H. (2013) Mechanism of arctigeninmediated specific cytotoxicity against human lung adenocarcinoma cell lines. Phytomedicine, 21(1): 39-46.
- Suzuki S and Sakakibara N. (2002) Survey and enzymatic formation of lignans of Anthriscus sylvestris. J Wood Sci, 48: 536–541.
- Suzuki S and Umezawa T. (2007) Biosynthesis of lignans and norlignans. J Wood Sci, 53(4):273-284.
- Suzuki S, Sakikabara N, Umezawa T, Shimada M. (2002b) Survey and enzymatic formation of lignans of Anthriscus sylvestris. J Wood Sci, 48(6): 536-541.
- Suzuki S, Umezawa T, Shimada M. (2002a) Stereochemical diversity in lignan biosynthesis of Arctium lappa L. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem, 66(6):1262-1269.
- Sy LK and Brown GD (1999) Coniferaldehyde derivatives from tissue culture of Artemisia annua and Tanacetum parthenium, Phytochem, 50(5): 781-785.
- Szokol-Borsodi L, Sólyomváry A, Molnár-Perl I, Boldizsár I. (2012) Optimum yields of dibenzylbutyrolactone-type lignans from Cynareae fruits, during their ripening, germination and enzymatic hydrolysis processes, determined by on-line chromatographic methods. Phytochem Anal, 23(6): 598-603.
- Takemoto T, Miyase T, Kusano G. (1975) Boehmenan, a new lignan from the roots of Boehmeria rticuspis. Phytochemistry, 14(8): 1890-1891. In: Calvo-Flores FG, Dobado JA, Isac-García J, Martín-Martínez FJ. Lignins and Lignans as Renewable Raw Materials. Wiley, 2015: 313-454.

- Tamura H, Akioka T, Ueno K, Chujyo T, Okazaki K, King PJ, Robinson WE Jr. (2006) Anti-human immunodeficiency virus activity of 3,4,5-tricaffeoylquinic acid in cultured cells of lettuce leaves. Mol Nutr Food Res, 50(4-5): 396-400.
- Taniguchi E, Imamura K, Ishibashi F, Matsui T, Nishio A. (1989) Structure of the novel insecticidal sesquilignan, haedoxan A. Agric Biol Chem, 53(3): 631-643.
- Tofts R. (1999) Cirsium eriophorum (L.) Scop. (Carduus eriophorus L.; Cnicus eriophorus (L.) Roth). J Ecol, 87(3): 529-542.
- Toivonen L. (1993) TOPICAL PAPER: Utilization of Hairy Root Cultures for Production of Secondary Metabolites. Biotechnol Prog, 9(1): 12–20.
- Truedsson L, Sjöholm AG, Sturfelt G. (1985) Complement activating rheumatoid factors in rheumatoid arthritis studied by haemolysis in gel: relation to antibody class and response to treatment with podophyllotoxin derivatives. Clin Exp Rheumatol, 3(1): 29-37.
- Tutin TG, Heywood VH, Burges NA, Moore DM, Valentine DH, Walters SM, Webb DA. Flora Europaea: Rosaceae to Umbelliferae, Vol 2 Cambridge University Press: New York, 1968: 218-326.
- Umezawa T, Okunishi T, Shimada M. (1997) Stereochemical Diversity in Lignan Biosynthesis. Wood Res, 85: 62-75.
- Umezawa T. (2003) Diversity in lignan biosynthesis. Phytochem Rev, 2(3): 371-390.
- van Furden B, Humburg A, Fuss E (2005) Influence of methyl jasmonate on podophyllotoxin and 6-methoxypodophyllotoxin accumulation in Linum album cell suspension cultures. Plant Cell Rep, 24(5): 312–317.
- Vaughan JG, Geissler CA. The New Oxford Book of Food Plants. Oxford University Press, New York, 1997
- Verma P, Mathur AK, Jain SP, Mathur A. (2012) In Vitro Conservation of Twenty-Three Overexploited Medicinal Plants Belonging to the Indian Sub Continent. ScientificWorldJournal, 2012: 929650.

- Viegi L, Pieroni A, Guarrera PM, Vangelisti R. (2003) A review of plants used in folk veterinary medicine in Italy as basis for a databank. J Ethnopharmacol, 89(2-3): 221-244.
- Wang QH, Peng K, Tan LH, Dai HF. (2010) Aquilarin A, a new benzenoid derivative from the fres stem of Aquilaria sinensis. Molecules, 15(6): 4011-4016.
- Wang W, Jiao L, Tao Y, Shao Y, Wang Q, Yu R, Mei L, Dang J. (2018) On-line HPLC\_DPPH bioactivity-gided assay for isolated of antioxidative phenylpropanoids from Qinghai-Tibet Plateau medicinal plant Lancea tibetica. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci, 28: 1106-1107.
- Wang YR, Xu Y, Jiang ZZ, Guerram M, Wang B, Zhu X, Zhang LY. (2015) Deoxypodophyllotoxin induces G2/M cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in SGC-7901 cells and inhibits tumor growth in vivo. Molecules, 20(1): 1661–1675.
- Ward RS. (1995) Lignans, neolignans, and related compounds. Nat Prod Rep, 12(2): 183-205.
- Ward RS. (1997) Lignans, neolignans, and related compounds. Nat Prod Rep, 14(1): 43-74.
- Ward RS. (2003) Different strategies for the chemical synthesis of lignans. Phytochem Rev, 2(3): 391-400.
- Woo KW, Suh WS, Subedi L, Kim SY, Kim A, Lee KR. (2016) Bioactive lignan derivatives from the stems of *Firmiana simplex*. Bioorg Med Chem Lett, 26(3): 730-733.
- World Health Organisation. WHO: Cancer From: Online database of World Health Organisation. Available: http://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cancer, Date of access: 02.10.2018.
- Wu M, Jiang Z, Duan H, Sun L, Zhang S, Chen M, Wang Y, Gao Q, Song Y, Zhu X, Zhang L. (2013) Deoxypodophyllotoxin triggers necroptosis in human non-small cell lung cancer NCI-H460 cells. Biomed Pharmacother, 67(8): 701–706

- Xianjuan k, Shimei Q, Wuxing D, Lan L, Zhimin Y. (2011) Arctigenin inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced iNOS expression in RAW264.7 cells through suppressing JAK-STAT signal pathway. Int Immunopharmacol. 11: 1095-1102.
- Xie LH, Ahn EM, Akao T, Abdel-Hafez AA, Nakamura N, Hattori M. (2003) Transformation of arctiin to estrogenic and antiestrogenic substances by human intestinal bacteria. Chem Pharm Bull (Tokyo), 51, 378-384.
- Xie Y, Ma G, Wei H, Yuan J, Wu H, Zhou X, Yang J, Xu X. (2013) Three New Phenolics and Other Constituents from the Seeds of *Lithocarpus pachylepis*. Molecules, 18(9): 10397-10403.
- Yamauchi S and Taniguchi E. (1991) Synthesis and insecticidal activity of lignan analogs. (1). Agric Biol Chem, 55(12): 3075-3084.
- Yamauchi S and Taniguchi E. (1992a) Synthesis and insecticidal activity of lignan analogs. Part 5. Influence on insecticidal activity of the 3-(3,4-methylenedixyphenyl) group in the 1,4-benzodioxanyl moiety of haedoxan. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem, 56(11): 1744-1750.
- Yamauchi S and Taniguchi E. (1992b) Synthesis and insecticidal activity of lignan analogs II. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem, 56(3): 412-417.
- Yamauchi S, Ishibashi F, Taniguchi E. (1992a) Synthesis and insecticidal activity of lignan analogs. Part 7. Insecticidal activity of sesquilignans with a 3-aryl-6-methoxy-2-methoxymethyl-1,4-benzodioxanyl group. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem, 56(11): 1760-1768.
- Yamauchi S, Nagata S, Taniguchi E. (1992b) Synthesis and insecticidal activity of haedoxan analogs. (Part IV). Effect on insecticidal activity of substituents at the 1,4benzodioxanyl moiety of haedoxan. Bioschi Biotechnol Biochem, 56(8): 1193-1197.
- Yang Z, Liu N, Huang B, Wang Y, Hu Y, Zhu Y. (2005) Effect of anti-influenza virus of arctigenin in vivo. J Chinese Med Mater, 28(11): 1012-1014.
- Yildiz B, Arabaci T, Dirmenci T, Söstekci S. (2016) A taxonomic revision of the genus Cirsium Mill. sect. Cirsium (Asteraceae: Cardueae) in Turkey. Turk J Bot, 40: 514-530.

- Yong Y, Shin SY, Lee YH, Lim Y. (2009) Antitumor activity of deoxypodophyllotoxin isolated from Anthriscus sylvestris: Induction of G2/M cell cycle arrest and capsasedependent apoptosis. Bioorg Med Chem Lett, 19(15): 4367-4371.
- Yoo H, Park J, Kwon S. (2006) An Antiestrogenic Lignan Glycoside, Tracheloside, from Seeds of Carthamus tinctorius. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem, 70: 2783–2785.
- Yousefzadi M, Sharifi M, Behmanesh M, Moyano E, Bonfill M, Cusido RM, Palazon J (2010) Podophyllotoxin: current approaches to its biotechnological production and future challenges. Eng Life Sci 10(4): 281–292.
- Yun JY, Roh E, Son JK, Lee SH, Seo CS, Hwang BY, Han SB, Kim Y. (2011) Effect of saucerneol D on melanin production in cAMP-elevated melanocytes. Arch Pharm Res, 34(8): 1339-1345.
- Zhang HB, Shen QK, Wang H, Jin C, Jin CM, Quan ZS. (2018b) Synthesis and evaluation of novel arctigenin derivatives as potential anti-Toxoplasma gondii agents. Eur J Med Chem, 158: 414-427.
- Zhang Y, Zhao H, Di Y, Li Q, Shao D, Shi J, Huang Q. (2018a) Antitumor activity of Pinoresinol in vitro: Inducing apoptosis and inhibiting HepG2 invasion. J Funct Foods, 45: 206-214.
- Zhao F, Chen L, Bi C, Zhang M, Jiao W, Yao X. (2013) In vitro anti-inflammatory effect of picrasmalignan A by the inhibition of iNOS and COX-2 expression in LPS-activated macrophage RAW 264.7 cells. Mol Med Rep, 8(5): 1585-1579.
- Zhao F, Wang L, Liu K. (2009) In vitro anti-inflammatory effects of arctigenin, a lignan from Arctium lappa L., through inhibition on iNOS pathway. J Ethnopharmacol, 122(3): 457-462.
- Zhao Y, Geng CA, Sun CL, Ma YB, Huang XY, Cao TW, He K, Wang H, Zhang XM, Chen JJ. (2014) Polyacetylenes and anti-hepatitis B virus active constituents from Artemisia capilaris. Fitoterapia, 95: 187-193.
- Zheleva-Dimitrova D, Zhelev I, Dimitrova-Dyulgerova I. (2011) Antioxidant Activity of Some *Carduus* Species Growing in Bulgaria. Free Radic Antiox, 1(4): 15-20.

- Zhou H, Ren J, Li Z. (2017) Antibacterial activity and mechanism of pinoresinol from Cinnamomum camphora leaves against food-related bacteria. Food Control, 79:192-199.
- Zhu C, Jing L, Yu N, Yang X, Zhao Y. (2013) A new lignan and active compounds inhibiting NF-κB signaling pathway from Caulis Trachelospermi. Acta Pharm Sin B, 3: 109–112.
- Zi CT, Xu FQ, Li GT, Li Y, Ding ZT, Zhou J, Jiang ZH, Hu JM. (2013) Synthesis and anticancer activity of glucosylated podophyllotoxin derivatives linked via 4β-triazole rings. Molecules, 18(11): 13992-14012.

## **10 BIBLIOGRAPHY OF THE CANDIDATE'S PUBLICATIONS**

## **10.1** Publications related to the thesis

- Könye R, Ress ÁE, Sólyomváry A, Tóth G, Darcsi A, Komjáti B, Horváth P, Noszál B, Molnár-Perl I, Béni Sz, Boldizsár I. (2016) Enzyme-hydrolyzed fruit of Jurinea mollis: a Rich source of (-)-(8R,8'R)-Arctigenin. Nat Prod Commun, 11(10): 1459-1462.
- Könye R, Tóth G, Sólyomváry A, Mervai Zs, Zürn M, Baghy K, Kovalszky I, Horváth P, Molnár-Perl I, Noszál B, Béni Sz, Boldizsár I. (2018) Chemodiversity of Cirsium fruits: Antiproliferative lignans, neolignans and sesquineolignans as chemotaxonomic markers. Fitoterapia, 127: 413-419.
- Sólyomváry A, Alberti Á, Darcsi A, Könye R, Tóth G, Noszál B, Molnár-Perl I, Lórántfy L, Dobos J, Őrfi L, Béni Sz, Boldizsár I. (2017b) Optimized conversion of antiproliferative lignans pinoresinol and epipinoresinol: Their simultaneous isolation and identification by centrifugal partition chromatography and high performance liquid chromatography. J Chromatogr B, 1052: 142-149.

## **11 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

Firstly, I wish to thank Dr. Szabolcs Béni head of the Department of Pharmacognosy,SE and Dr Gábor Kovács M., head of the Department of Plant Anatomy, ELTE, who has provided me the opportunity to complete my doctoral work in the department.I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisors, Dr. Szabolcs Béni and Dr.

Imre Boldizsár for their patient guidance and the support during my Ph.D studies.

I am very grateful that I could spend most of these years with my little "biotech-family" who were colleagues and friends: Katalin Koller Béláné, Dr. Regina Gond-Bertóti and dr. Rita Edit Pénzes.

I wish to thank to **Dr. Anna Bucsy-Sólyomváry, Dr. András Darcsi, Dr. Ida Fejős, Dr. Nóra Gampe, Dr. Eszter Riethmüller, dr. Csenge Anna Tóth** and **Dr. Anita Zempléni-Tóth** for their restless patience and helpfulness with my stupid questions as well as during my thesis-writing period. I wouldn't be able to accomplish it without you!

Tamás Czeglédi for all his help and of course, for our discussions.

I cannot tell how much I appreciate the full support of the best RTD Team ever, to **Dr. Péter Nagyőszi** and **Zoltán Kerékgyártó** during the long, final run of my thesis.

All my collegues at the Department of Pharmacognosy and the Department of Plant Anatomy who helped me during my Ph.D. studies and from whom I have learnt a lot.

I also appreciate the kindness of **Dr. Dana Holubová** and **Dr. Attila Lengyel** who let me use their wonderful pictures in this thesis.

Finally, I wish to thank **my fiancé's**, **friends'** and **family's** support, patience and faith in my work.